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INTRODUCTION

Under EPA, tribal governments may be required to complete an “EPA
Administrative and Financial On Site Protocol” (formerly called the “EPA
Administrative and Financial Monitoring Review”) and/or a “Programmatic
Monitoring Review”. These desk or on-site reviews are designed to help the
Tribe more effectively manage their grant agreements and grant funds (the
former) and assess progress and performance on the grants (the latter).

Tundra Cartoon by Chad Carpenter, Ketchikan Daily News, 2010

The focus of the CYA Manual is to assist Tribes in addressing issues to
encourage their success in an “EPA Administrative and Financial On Site
Protocol. A copy of the Protocol is located at Tab A. In conducting its reviews,
the EPA discovered that Tribes have several areas needing improvement.
These include: support documentation, multiple grants or funding sources
tracking, written policies and procedures, and internal controls.
The CYA Manual was prepared to serve as a tool to assist tribal governments in
three ways:
•To give insight on how to develop the financial management, administrative and
internal control systems necessary to meet government requirements in order to
apply for and obtain federal funding.
•To encourage understanding of the tools that will assist in effective and efficient
day-to-day tribal operations.
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•To improve communication among the Council membership, Council Members
and staff.
The original CYA Manual was developed and implemented through a series of
workshops in 2006. A number of workshops were held within the Bristol Bay
Region, either by BBNA or sponsoring tribal organizations and villages. The
response from workshop participants was very positive, with people indicating
the Manual is a helpful tool in running their respective Councils.
Since the original Manual was written, the EPA IGAP has continued to evolve,
which means changes to grant management and administrative processed.
Recognizing the need to keep current, the BBNA Environmental Program
decided to revise the CYA Manual. The contents of this revision includes input
from all past CYA workshop participants, regulation changes in grants
requirements from the federal government, regulation changes from state
sources and updates in management processes.

Why Cover Your Assets?
The purpose of the CYA Manual is to provide recommended guidelines for the
successful day-to-day operation of the Council. These guidelines include the
necessary administrative and management systems that should be in place in
order for the Council to successfully apply for, receive, implement and close out a
program or project funded by a grant.
For example, granting agencies now days require an applying Council to submit
a Long Range Plan. The Long Range Plan shows proof that the project or
activity being applied for is actually a Council priority. If the Council has no Long
Range Plan, there is little hope of an application submitted without one being
funded, unless the Tribe is applying for funds to create such a Plan.
Or, funding has been received, but there is a Grant Condition. The Condition
says the Council cannot draw down funds until proof of policies and procedures
is submitted. The Council better have the policies and procedures requested
ready to send in or risk losing the funds.
Or, it’s financial reporting time for a grant. The person hired to implement the
grant must submit the required financial form- usually an SF-272. But, how
much has been spent by the grant program? The Council had better have a
system in place for tracking financial information for each grant program and all
Council operations or risk losing the funds and have audit findings.
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The bottom line: if the Council does not have the proper tools in place, the whole
operation is at risk. The CYA Manual strives to provide the proper tools and
explain the reasons why these tools are needed.

What Are Your Assets?
Assets by dictionary definition are: “A useful or valuable quality or thing; a
valuable item that is owned”. Other similar words are: possessions, belongings,
property, and resources. Assets can be tangible things, such as cash and
inventory and intangibles, such as good will.
Each Council has cash, supplies, office equipment and human resources, both
paid and volunteer. Some Councils also have heavy equipment and property.
All of these are assets.
What a Council chooses to do with its assets
determines success or failure.

Who is Responsible for Your Assets?
As described throughout the CYA Manual, the assets of the Council are the
responsibilities of everyone doing the work of the Tribal Council. This includes
the Tribal Council members elected by tribal members to oversee the Tribal
Council, and the Tribal Council staff who are in charge of the day-to-day
operations of the Tribal Council. Each individual will have his or her unique
responsibilities to ensure the Tribal Council is effectively and efficiently using the
assets. If someone is not properly using the assets, then appropriate action
should be taken in order to protect the assets.
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ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: The Council’s Responsibilities

COUNCIL FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES
Fiduciary = a person (or organization who has the responsibility to act for the
benefit of the public or another.
Fiduciary Responsibilities = properly using, managing or investing
the property or other assets placed in the trust of the
Fiduciary.
These Include:
 Setting policy for the organization.
 Developing a strategic or comprehensive plan.
 Fund Development.
 Financial Management.
 Interacting with the Community
 Relating to the Staff.
 Overseeing Committees.
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How Do You Protect Your Assets?
Protecting the Tribal Council’s assets is the utmost priority for all Tribal Council
members and staff. Without the assets, the tribal Council cannot operate and
fulfill its commitments to the tribal membership.
In order to protect assets, the Tribal Council must be proactive. This means
doing several things:
•Develop and implement administrative, financial and management
systems for Council operations, including for grant management. These
systems are discussed in the CYA Manual.
•Make sure there are effective checks and balances in place for your
administrative, financial and management systems.
•Attend the trainings offered to grantees by granting agencies after
the grant award is made.
•Read and follow the grant requirements and any additional guidance
provided by the granting agency’s program officer or staff. Be sure to
complete the work of the grant as proposed, using your work plan and
budget, and to meet all grant deadlines.
•Ask questions! Find answers!

Your Goal as Council Members and Staff:

Good Leadership and Management
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ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: GOOD MANAGEMENT COMPONENTS
What makes for a well-managed Council?
•Plan - defines what work needs to be done to accomplish the work of the Council.
-Mission Statement
-Community Development (Assessment/Survey)
-Long Range Goals
-Yearly Priorities
-Annual Plan of Work
-Annual Budget
•Organize- defines how the work that is planned will be done.
-Organizational chart
-Time management
-Delegation of activities
-Policies and procedures (Administrative, Procurement, Finance,
Property)
•Staff- defines who will do the work.
-Position descriptions
-Recruit and hire
-Training
-Performance goals
-Personnel policies and procedures
•Evaluate- defines the ways of overseeing & monitoring the work.
-Performance evaluation of the Plan & staff
-Staff recognition
-Interaction with audiences
-Problem solving
-Teamwork

Good management is the art of making difficult things simple, not simple
things difficult. - Anonymous
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How to Use the CYA Manual
The CYA Manual is set up in easy-to-follow Chapters that are further divided into
Sections. Each Chapter starts with an overview. Each Section gives specific
information as to the “What, Why, Who and How.
The Manual begins with the basics: what needs to be in place for the Tribal
Council to manage its operations and be ready to apply for grant funds.
Subsequent Chapters discuss Tribal Council administration, financial and people
management, timeliness, and grant management.
Helpful resources may be found at Tab B. Tab Z contains a glossary of federal
agency terms.
Throughout the CYA Manual you will find helpful recommendations for
establishing your Tribal Council administrative and management systems.
These recommendations are under the headings of Asset Protection Bonus and
CYA Assist.

ASSET PROTECTION BONUS- is extra information that provides more
detail about the subject matter found in the Chapter.

CYA ASSIST- provides helpful hints on how to implement the information found
in that Chapter.
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CHAPTER 1: BE LEADERS & MANAGERS- Setting Tribal
Council Direction
Overview:

“I am so busy doing nothing…that the idea of doing anything, which
as you know always leads to something, cuts into the nothing and then forces me to
have to drop everything” -Jerry Seinfeld”

The Tribal Council members are elected by the membership to effectively and
efficiently manage the assets of the Council. The Tribal Council members with
the President as leader, have a plan of action, a vision if you will, of what could
be for the community. They set the direction to fulfill the vision. They decide the
goals of the Tribal Council and delegate the job of accomplishing the goals to the
Tribal Administrator and his/her staff. The Tribal Administrator, as manager,
provides the day-to-day operation of the Tribal Council, and implements the
vision of the Tribal Council members and President.
The Tribal Council continues to monitor the day-to-day operations, regularly
hearing from the Tribal Administrator how things are going, usually at the monthly
Council meeting.
The Council is responsible for making sure that
activities/projects are well-managed and staff is effectively responding to events
as they take place.
Remember- A well-managed Tribal Council will be more successful than
those that respond to events as they take place. The question is, do you
want to be pro-active in your Tribal Council management or in constant

crisis mode?
To be pro-active, everyone in the Tribal Council organization- the membership,
Council Members, and Council staff- must have a common understanding of the
organization’s purpose, their individual responsibilities for accomplishing the
purpose, and act accordingly to ensure Council success.
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What do we need to accomplish this? In the following Sections, you will discover
the major pieces needed to be pro-active leaders and managers. We will look in
depth at the following:
√Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures
√Tribal Council Member Code of Ethics
√Tribal Council Mission or Vision Statement
√Tribal Council Planning Process
√Tribal Council Chain of Command
√Communication
√Tribal Council Productive Meetings

Good management is the art of making difficult things simple, not simple things
difficult.
-Anonymous

Which way did they go?
How many of them were there?
How fast were they going?
I MUST find them!
I am their LEADER!

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 15 of 143

Section 1. Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures

What are Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures?
Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures contain specific information on
how Council Members should conduct Council business, as well as how to
conduct themselves as Council Members. Usually, the Council Member Policies
and Procedures are based on, and further define the information found in the
Constitution and/or bylaws. Often, the Council Member Policies and Procedures
fill in information gaps that may be left out of the Constitution and/or bylaws.
These policies and procedures provide direction for the Tribal Council members
by describing their roles and responsibilities. Topics in the Policies and
Procedures can include elections, removal of a Tribal Council member, how to fill
vacancies and meeting lines of authority, conflict of interest and confidentiality
issues.

Why do you need Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures?
There are two main reasons for the Tribal Council to have policies and
procedures for their Tribal Council Members:
•The Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures provides a way to
help Tribal Council Members understand their jobs and to encourage the
Tribal Council Members to conduct business in a professional manner.
•Funding agencies are requiring proof that Tribal Councils have such
policies and procedures in place.

Who is responsible for developing and implementing Tribal Council Member
Policies and Procedures?
The Tribal Council is ultimately responsible for ensuring that they have policies
and procedures in place for the members of the Tribal Council. Help is available
to complete the document. The Tribal Council President can direct the Tribal
Administrator to make sure the document is drafted. The Tribal Administrator
can get professional assistance with this process. Or, the Tribal Administrator
may be able to use documents from other sources (see next section) to help
develop the policies and procedures that meet Tribal Council needs. Usually, it
works well to do a combination of the two approaches.
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Once the policies and procedures are drafted, the Tribal Council President,
working with the Tribal Council, is responsible for seeing that they are approved
and adopted, preferably by Council Resolution.

How do you develop the Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures?
Contact other Tribal Councils and/or your regional non-profit corporation for
possible samples of Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures. You can
modify these samples to meet your needs. It is recommended not to just copy
these samples, but carefully review them and adapt them for your Tribal Council.
Contract with a professional who develops policies and procedures and have
something drafted that is specific for your Tribal Council’s situation and needs.
There is grant funding available to develop Tribal Council Member Policies and
Procedures. ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources. You may find
samples of policies and procedures from some federal programs such as EPA
IGAP and HUD ICDBG.
Most important, once you have the Tribal Council Member Policies and
Procedures developed, they need to be implemented. Adopt the Tribal Council
Member Policies and Procedures by Tribal Council Resolution. Use this
resolution in your grant writing to show proof of having the policies and
procedures in place. Be sure that Tribal Council Members receive training in
implementing the Tribal Council Member Policies and Procedures. Tribal Council
staff should also be aware that these policies and procedures are in place and
receive training for understanding of the documents.

CYA ASSIST: A sample of a Council Member Policies and Procedures is located
on the BBNA website.
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Section 2. Tribal Council Member Code of Ethics

What is a Code of Ethics?
When a Tribal Council member is elected, he/she takes an oath of office. The
oath of office is a promise the Council member makes to the community. A Code
of Ethics expands on that oath by further defining how he or she will conduct
him/herself with honor while holding office. The Code is a reminder for the Tribal
Council Member of what he/she is elected or appointed to do. The Code
encourages the Tribal Council Members to conduct their business in a
professional, ethical and objective manner. It also encourages full disclosure.
The Code of Ethics describes how the Tribal Council Member should behave
while serving on the Tribal Council to ensure not being influenced or pressured in
their decision-making, or taking action that causes their personal gain.
The
Tribal Council Member is required to sign the Code of Ethics to affirm his/her
pledge to the Code.

Why does the Tribal Council need a Code of Ethics?
There are three good reasons for the Tribal Council to have a Code of Ethics for
their Tribal Council Members:
•The Code of Ethics provides guidance for each Tribal Council Member to
ethically conduct his/her job.
•Funding agencies are requiring proof that Tribal Councils have a Code of
Ethics in place. Specifically, the HUD ICDBG program requires proof of
such a or similar document.
•The Code of Ethics is a reminder to each Tribal Council Member to put
the Tribal Council and its work first, not his or her own personal agenda.

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Tribal Council Code of
Ethics?
The Tribal Council is ultimately responsible for ensuring that a Code of Ethics is
in place. The Tribal Council President can direct the Tribal Administrator to make
sure the document is drafted. The Tribal Administrator can get professional
assistance with this process. Or, the Tribal Administrator may be able to use
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documents from other sources to help develop the document. Usually, it works
well to do a combination of the two approaches.
Once the Code of Ethics is drafted, the Tribal Council President, working with the
Tribal Council, is responsible for seeing that it is approved and adopted. The
President should see to it that each Tribal Council Member signs proof that
he/she has received the Code of Ethics and that the proof is filed appropriately.

How do you develop a Tribal Council Code of Ethics?
As with all the material recommended in this Manual, help is available to
complete the Code of Ethics. Contact other Tribal Councils and/or your regional
non-profit corporation for possible samples of a Code of Ethics. Modify the
Code to meet your needs. Contract with a professional who develops policies
and procedures and have something drafted that is specifically for your Tribal
Council’s situation.
There is grant funding available to develop such
governance tools as a Tribal Council Code of Ethics and to receive training on
implementation. ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources.
Most important, once you have the Code of Ethics developed, be sure that the
Tribal Council Members each receive a copy and sign proof of receipt. Have the
Code of Ethics adopted by Tribal Council Resolution. This resolution can be
used to show proof of having the Code of Ethics for grant writing purposes.
Tribal Council staff should also be made aware that the Code of Ethics is in
place. The staff is equally responsible to conduct business ethically.

CYA ASSIST: The Tribal Council is encouraged to include confidentiality
requirements in several documents: The Council Member Policies and
Procedures, the Code of Ethics and the Employee Policies and Procedures.

CYA ASSIST: A sample Code of Ethics is included with the Policies and
Procedures for Council Members.
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Section 3. Mission Statement
What is a Mission or Vision Statement?
A Mission Statement is a short, simple sentence used to answer the question,
“What is our business?” A Mission Statement is your vision of what could be
and is desirable to be. It:
•Defines the purpose of the Tribal Council.
•Describes the service(s) of the Tribal Council.
•Identifies who uses the service(s) and where the service is provided.
The Mission Statement provides the foundation for the Tribal Council’s Long
Range Plan.

Hagar Cartoon by Dik Browne, Ketchikan Daily News, 6/12/06

CYA ASSIST: The IGAP Planning Workbook provides more information on
developing the Mission or Vision Statement.
The Workbook uses Vision
Statement which is the same as the mission. Mission Statement is the common
term used by the federal government and private foundations.

Why does the Tribal Council need a Mission Statement?
Three reasons for the Tribal Council to have a Mission Statement include:
•The Mission Statement describes for the Tribal Membership what their
Tribal Council does and works to accomplish. The Mission Statement can
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help Tribal Members understand the reason for Tribal Council decisions.
•The Mission Statement keeps the Tribal Council Members and staff
focused. All the Tribal Council’s work should reflect the Mission
Statement. Before doing any planning or grant writing, you should ask if
the task at hand will further the Tribal Council’s Mission.
•Funding agencies are looking to see if Tribal Councils have a focus. The
Mission Statement is a valuable tool to show this.

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Tribal Council’s Mission
Statement?
The Tribal Council President and Tribal Council Members are responsible for
developing the Mission Statement. You may want assistance from a professional
to do this.
Once the Mission Statement is drafted, it is the responsibility of the Tribal Council
President, working with the Tribal Council, to see that it is approved and adopted.
The President should ensure that each Tribal Council staff knows the Tribal
Council Mission Statement.

How do you develop a Tribal Council Mission Statement?
Developing a Mission Statement is as simple as answering these questions:
•Who benefits from our mission?
•Where do we conduct the work of our mission?
•What is the purpose of, or what do we hope to achieve with our mission?
•How do we provide the services of our mission?

Answering Questions 3 and 4 should be easy. The ‘who’ we provide services to
is our tribal membership and the ‘where’ we provide the services is in our
community.
In order to describe the ‘purpose’ and ‘services’ of the Tribe’s mission, we look at
the very reason the tribal government exists. Maybe the purpose speaks to
quality of life or to self-sustaining governance. The services could include
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umbrella words that describe all the programs provided by the Tribal Council. So,
instead of listing all the programs, talk in broader terms using words such as
‘social, economic, education, cultural, environment, natural resources, etc.
CYA ASSIST: Remember: Keep your Statement short and simple!

CYA ASSIST: Ask around and see what other Tribal Councils may have
developed for a Mission Statement. Feel free to use material from others, but
each Tribal Council should do their best to develop a Mission Statement that truly
reflects them and their purpose in their particular community.

CYA ASSIST: Be sure to adopt your Mission Statement by Tribal Council
Resolution and note the date and resolution number on the Mission Statement.
Distribute copies to all staff and Tribal Council Members. In fact, posting the
Mission Statement in a prominent location in the office is highly recommended.

CYA ASSIST: Grant funds are available to help prepare the Tribal Council’s
Mission Statement as part of a Long Range Plan development. Grant funds can
help you obtain professional technical support to develop the Mission Statement
as well as all the other documents described in the CYA Manual.

CYA ASSIST: Another term you may hear is Value Statements. This is usually a
list of statements that describe things that are important to your community.
Value Statements often describe the guiding principles for your community that
have helped people in the past and continue to provide a sense of community.
Examples of Value Statements are:
•Respect for Elders
•Love for our children
•Respect for nature

CYA ASSIST: Samples of Mission Statements are included in Tab C with long
range goal information.
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Section 4. Long Range Plan & Community Assessment

Remember the saying,
What is a Long Range Plan?
“If you don’t know where you are going, any old road will take you there”? Well,
the Long Range Plan is the road that will get you where you want to go. The
Long Range Plan is a written plan of action of the Tribal Council’s work, covering
a specific period of time.
The Plan usually has several parts, starting with the mission statement. An
overview of the community is strongly recommended. Other parts include goal
statements and activities to complete the goals, who is responsible for
completing an activity, the projected cost, and the possible source of funding for
the activity. The Long Range Plan usually covers a five-year period and is
updated annually.
It is highly recommended that the Tribe include cost estimates for the work
activities described in the Long Range Plan. This is usually called a financial
plan or funding plan that describes the amount of money projected to be needed
and how those funds will be obtained. For example, the Council decides that an
activity for 20XX is to purchase four four-wheelers for Council programs. There
should be funds budgeted from a source either available or identified. The
budget should include not only the cost of the equipment but allow for fuel,
insurance, etc.

Remember, if you plan to do it, you need the money to do it.
The Mission Statement serves as the foundation for the Long Range Plan. From
this Statement, all the rest of the Plan flows. The goal statements are next and
can cover such topics as social development, economic development, health,
culture, environment, governance or natural resources. After the goals are
developed, the activities to accomplish the goals are determined, usually work to
be done for the coming year.
CYA ASSIST: Sample long range goals are located in the Appendix at Tab C.
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This document can have many names: Comprehensive Plan,
Community Development Plan, Long Range Plan, Community
Strategic Plan or any combination of these terms. Whatever the
name is, it is basically the same document.
Why does the Tribal Council need a Long Range Plan?
There are several reasons for the Tribal Council to have a Long Range Plan:
•The Long Range Plan provides direction and focus for the work of
the Tribal Council.
•The Long Range Plan is a valuable tool for evaluating the
accomplishments of the Tribal Council.
•Funding agencies want to see that the Tribal Council has identified its
needs in an organized manner and has its own independent agenda
that complements the rest of the community and region in a coordinated
manner. Usually, the relevant pages from the Long Range Plan
will be included in a grant application.
•The Long Range Plan provides the basis for preparing proposals
to funding agencies. Based on the priorities in the Long Range
Plan, decisions can be made as to what grant funds to pursue.

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Tribal Council’s Long
Range Plan?
The Tribal Council President and Tribal Council Members are responsible for
developing the Long Range Plan. You may want assistance from a professional
to do this. There are numerous examples and templates available from other
Tribal Councils, regional nonprofits or other organizations that can be used to
develop a Long Range Plan for your tribe.
The Tribal Administrator is responsible for implementing the Long Range Plan
along with Tribal Council staff. Once the Tribal Council has ranked the goals of
the Long Range Plan, the Tribal Council staff should use this information in
determining their work for the coming year. By ranking the goals and the
accompanying activities, the Tribal Council is telling the staff what is a priority
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and needs to be done that year, including what is a priority for pursuing grant
funds.
If written properly, the information in the Long Range Plan, such as the
community overview, may be used as narrative material in the grant application.

How do you develop a Tribal Council Long Range Plan?
The Long Range Plan should be based on information gathered from the Tribal
Council membership. This usually happens through a series of community
meetings and/or a community assessment process. The community assessment
is a survey questionnaire completed by community members. Every effort
should be made to gather information from all community members, young and
Elders. For example, the Assessment can be taken to the classroom and have
students fill it out.
Visits to Elders homes can be made to complete the
Assessment.

CYA ASSIST: A sample Community Assessment is located in the Appendix at
Tab D.

Based on the input gathered from the community, the Plan is drafted that
includes a Mission Statement (the Tribal Council’s purpose for existing), long
range goals (five year period, no more than seven goals is the norm) and
activities (what is to be accomplished in a year). The Tribal Council needs to
rank the goals each year. This establishes the priority for the work of the Tribal
Council.
Information in the Plan should include goals (at a minimum) for: economic
development, environment, health and social welfare, culture and governance.
Other goals might include infrastructure and/or fund development.
As mentioned before, there are grant funds available to cover the costs of
preparing the Mission Statement and Long Range Plan. ANA can be a great
help with funds for the planning process.

CYA ASSIST: Be sure to RANK the goals of the Long Range Plan every year.
The Tribal Council should vote on the priority order of each goal. The goal with
the highest priority should get most of the effort on the part of staff to accomplish.
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CYA ASSIST: Most important, make sure that the Plan does not end up on a
shelf collecting dust! This Plan needs to be the basis for the Tribal Council’s
decision-making for the coming year and for years to come.

CYA ASSIST: When identifying projects and activities for your community,
consider which of these could be collaborations with other organizations or
communities. Collaborative efforts with others is a smart approach for several
reasons: you can increase available funds for projects; and funding agencies
look favorably on cooperative projects.

A goal without a plan is just a wish. –Anoine de Saint Esupery

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 26 of 143

MANAGEMENT ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: “The Green Book”

BBNA has developed a workbook to assist Councils in developing the work plans
for their environmental programs. The Tribal Environmental Program Workbook
was developed by the Bristol Bay Native Association and Agnew::Beck
Consulting with financial assistance from EPA.
The Workbook grew out of a training session held with tribal environmental
program staff who were looking for one concise document to assist in the
environmental planning process.
The Workbook, also known as The Green Book, provides environmental program
staff with a framework to use in preparing the environmental program.
Importantly, the intent of the Workbook is to draw the community into the
planning process, encouraging their involvement in improving the community
environment.
For further information about the Environmental Planning Workbook, contact Sue
Flensburg at BBNA.

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 27 of 143

Section 5. Communication and Team Work
What is Communication?
A Tribal Council consists of many people, all communicating in their own unique
way. The success of the Council depends on how well everyone is listening to
one another, reading what everyone writes down and watching everyone’s
unspoken but visible language- body language- in other words, communicating!

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 6/12/06

Communication is defined by Webster’s Dictionary as “giving or exchanging of
information”. It is also the method of communicating, i.e., a letter, a phone call,
etc.

Why Does Communication Break down?
Communication takes two or more people- one sending the information, the other
receiving it. If something happens to disrupt or deter the sending or receiving
process, the communication can break down. Reasons for communication failing
include:
∆ Using the wrong communication method.
∆ Assuming the listener or receiver has understood.
∆ The sender isn’t sure what he or she is communicating.
∆ The sender or listener isn’t listening.
∆ The sender fails to send the information.
∆ The communication triggers emotional defenses.
∆ Words mean different things to different people.
∆ Age or values differences.
∆ The sender or listener isn’t interested.
∆ A lack of feedback.
∆ A lack of follow through or follow up.
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∆ The sender or listener is preoccupied with other matters.

Who Is Responsible for Effective Council Communication?
Good communication within the Council is the responsibility of all the Council
Members and the staff. Everyone in the Council should make sure
communications are flowing smoothly. You are a team working to accomplish
the goals of the Council and its community members. The Council President,
heading the Council, and Tribal Administrator, heading the staff, have the added
responsibility of being team leaders. They are ultimately responsible for ensuring
the Council’s work is completed effectively and efficiently.
The Council
President supervises the Tribal Administrator and the Tribal Administrator
supervises the staff.
If there are problems, such as deadlines being missed, reports not filed, people
not understanding their jobs, the Council is in crisis management mode. The
Council must address any problems immediately to get its work back on track.
The team leaders (the Council President and Tribal Administrator) are
responsible for this happening.
The Tribal Administrator and program managers (IGAP, ANA, NAHASDA, etc.)
must communicate with one another. For example, the program manager should
regularly discuss progress with his/her program activities and goals. The tribal
administrator should regularly contact the program manager to make sure the
program/project is on track. If there are difficulties, they should work together to
resolve the situation. The tribal administrator should make sure that all reports
and drawdowns are being done according to the grant program’s requirements.

How Should the Council Communicate?
Communication tools are readily available.
However, they must be used
consistently and regularly. Communication usually falls into three categories:
1. Verbal Communication. To avoid problems, be sure the sender and receiver
understand the verbal communication. Actively listen! The receiver can
acknowledge the sender with words, such as “I see”, “Sounds good”, and “Uhhuh”. Sender, be sure the receiver understands by asking questions like, “What
do you think?” or “How should we handle this?”
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2. Written Communication. Throughout the CYA Manual, leaving a paper trail is
talked about. Any written communication is a part of the Council’s paper trail. In
today’s funding world, having things in writing is greatly preferred. It is vital that
the sender follows up with the receiver to make sure he/she has received the
written communication, understands it and asks any questions.
3. Both Verbal and Written Communication. This is often the preferred way to
communicate. It ensures that the sender and receiver are being communicated
with appropriately. Sometimes people hear better than they read and vice versa.
Using both methods encourages the sender and receiver to discuss the
communication and provides the added benefit of a paper trail.
The information in the CYA Manual is communication presented both verbally
and in writing. Each of the tools presented in the Manual provides a way for the
members of the Council and the staff to communicate.

CYA ASSIST: The Tribal Administrator should hold regular staff meetings. This
is a great opportunity to bring people together to help with problem solving. Use
everyone’s brain for ideas! The most important question the tribal administrator
(team leader) can ask:

What do you think we should do?
Remember, if the ship sinks, everyone goes down with it.

CYA ASSIST: The team leader needs to acknowledge people and their ideas.
He or she should not take credit for someone else’s idea. Give praise where it is
due!
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Go ahead….read this communication!
I cdnuolt blveiee taht I cluod aulaclty uesdnatnrd waht I was rdanieg. The
phaonmneal pweor of the hmuan mnid Aoccdrnig to rscheearch at Cmabrigde
Uinervtisy, it deosn't mttaer in waht oredr the ltteers in a wrod are, the olny
iprmoatnt tihng is taht the frist and lsat ltteer be in the rghit pclae. The rset can be
a taotl mses and you can sitll raed it wouthit a porbelm. Tihs is bcuseae the huamn
mnid deos not raed ervey lteter by istlef, but the wrod as a wlohe. Amzanig huh?

CYA ASSIST:
Encourage your team and communicate using these important words:

•The six most important words in our language are "I admit I made
a mistake."
•The five most important works are "You did a good job."
•The four most important words are "What is your opinion?"
•The three most important words are "Let's work together."
•The two most important words are "Thank you."
•The single most important word is "We."

CYA ASSIST: A term called “chain of command” describes the relationship
along supervisory, authority, communication and responsibility lines among all
the Council’s programs and personnel. Chain of command is most frequently
illustrated by using an Organization Chart, which shows these relationship lines.
The Organization Chart gives a visual picture of the Council’s lines of authority
and communication, while describing duties and responsibilities.
Chapter #2 provides more information on the organization chart.
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MANAGEMENT ASSET PROTECTION BONUS:
Trust is very important to having a good working team. Everyone must feel
comfortable to speak up and say what he or she feel and know they will not be
criticized for it.
This quiz will help tell you how your behavior builds team trust.

Seldom

Occasionally Often

1. I actively work to build the selfesteem of the people on my team.

_____

________

_____

2. I use frequent praise and feedback
to help build the confidence of the
team members & team efforts.

_____

________

_____

3. When problems come up, I try
to stay above it all & let the team
work it out.

_____

________

_____

4. I single out individuals for
praise or blame.

_____

________

_____

5. I behave toward others and team
members with courtesy and fairness.

_____

________

_____

6. I follow through on things I have
committed to do.

_____

________

_____

7. I discourage any tendencies to
gossip or focus on personal issues.

_____

________

_____

8. I actively work with the team to
address work-related problems.

_____

________

_____
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Section 6. Tribal Council Productive Meetings

What is a Productive Council Meeting?
Well, the following illustrates what IS NOT a productive meeting!

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 3/7/06

Meetings are an important part of the work of the Tribal Council, conducting the
Council’s business, and addressing issues and problems. The key ingredients
for a productive meeting are:
√The content of the meeting is clearly defined. This includes the agenda,
reports, information for making decisions, a method for making the decisions, a
forum for comments and feedback and implementation of the decisions.
√The process of the meeting is common knowledge among participants. For
example, everyone agrees to follow the agenda, Roberts Rules of Order, and the
method for making decisions.
√There is a meeting leader. This is usually the Council President or his/her
designee if absent.
√The time frame of the meeting is agreed upon. There is a clear starting and
ending time.

Why Does the Tribal Council Need Productive Meetings?
Productive meetings produce results! Are Council meetings starting on time?
Do they end at midnight? Do tribal members become unruly or take up too much
time with comments? Are Council members listening to long reports? Does the
‘old business’ section get longer with each meeting? Are the rules being
followed?
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If your Council’s meetings are experiencing any of the above challenges, you
may want to improve the way your meetings are run. Council members’ need to
effectively use their time in meetings and plan their meetings to accomplish their
work. Otherwise, the Council is in crisis management.

Who is Responsible for Productive Meetings?
The Council President is the leader of the Council team. It’s the President’s
responsibility to ensure productive Council meetings. He/she will usually work
with the Tribal Administrator to develop the meeting agenda, reviewing
information that may need to be brought to the group. The President calls the
meeting to order, announces the business at hand, recognizes people entitled to
speak, makes sure vital information is presented, and puts motions to vote. It’s
his/her job to make sure things stay on track and that action is taken in an
appropriate and timely manner. The President usually remains neutral on
controversial issues.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 7/12/06

How Do You Hold Productive Meetings?
The key to successful meetings is establishing a meeting process, preparing
information before the meeting and following the process during the meeting. The
Tribal Council President, Secretary and Tribal Administrator should work as a
team to develop the meeting process and work together to make sure the
process is followed.
Here are some helpful suggestions for holding productive meetings:

Develop the Meeting Agenda. For example, if the Tribal Council meeting is the
second Tuesday of each month, the President and Tribal Administrator should
meet at least a week ahead of the meeting date and develop the agenda. The
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Tribal Administrator makes sure the agenda is distributed, including posting in
public locations for tribal members.
Develop Council Meeting Packets. At least one week prior to the meetings,
along with preparing the agenda, gather all the information what will be part of
the meeting’s agenda. The packet can include the agenda, meeting minutes,
staff reports, and action item information. These packets are distributed to the
Council Members at least three-five days BEFORE the meeting. Each Council
Member is responsible for reviewing and reading all the material BEFORE the
meeting.
Develop a Consent Agenda. A Consent Agenda consists of information and
materials that are of an “every meeting” nature. The items on the Consent
Agenda should be part of the Meeting Packets distributed ahead of the meeting.
The Consent Agenda may include: prior meeting minutes, correspondence that
is ‘information only’ and requires no action, monthly financial reports, reports
from the staff, reports from committees, report from those on Council business.
As with the Meetings Packets, Council Members are responsible for reviewing
and reading all items that are part of the Consent Agenda.
At the meeting, there is a motion from the floor to move on the items in the
Consent Agenda to be accepted as presented. There should be no discussion.
However, if someone wants an item pulled from the Consent Agenda for further
discussion or action, he or she may do so.
Take Accurate Minutes. Meeting minutes are an important part of the Tribal
Council’s paper trail, providing written documentation of Tribal Council actions.
During the meeting, it is important to keep a record of all actions taken and
motions passed. Make the minutes precise and concise. The minutes must
have every action taken by the Tribal Council that requires a vote or is a direction
given by the Tribal Council Every word does not need to be written down. Write
only the information that will be needed for future reference. DO write down the
motion and the action taken. Write down any unfinished business. Write down
who is going to be responsible for doing something.
Once the meeting is over, the Tribal Council Secretary should meet with the
Tribal Administrator to determine when the meeting minutes will be ready for
review. Be sure that the meeting minutes, once approved, are kept in a fireproof,
locking file cabinet. A three-ring binder works well to keep minutes intact.
The Tribal Council Secretary is responsible for Tribal Council meeting minutes.
The Secretary may request the Tribal Administrator to take the minutes.
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However, the Secretary is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the minutes
are typed and ready for approval at the next meeting.
There are three main reasons for the Tribal Council to have proper meeting
documentation:
•The meeting documentation provides proof of community involvement
and written proof of what action is decided during the meeting. It’s an
efficient method for finding out what took place.
•Funding agencies are requiring proof that Tribal Councils have
community participation in the grant application process. They want to
know that the community was told about the grant application and given a
chance to provide input.
•Proper meeting documentation ensures that the Tribal Council is
following its bylaws and Constitution.

CYA ASSIST: If resolutions are adopted, they need to be signed and filed for
easy future access.

CYA ASSIST: Be sure to document that meeting minutes are approved. You
can easily accomplish this by adding the following at the bottom of the final
version of the Council minutes.
The above meeting minutes from the Council meeting held on ______________,
20XX are approved as presented.
________________________________ Council Secretary _______________ Date

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 36 of 143

CHAPTER 2: BE ORGANIZED- Managing the Tribal Council

Overview:
“If you don’t know where you are going, any old road will take you there”

The heart and soul of any business, organization or Tribal government are its
internal operations. Think of your body. The internal organs in each of usheart, lungs, kidneys- all work together to keep our bodies operating smoothly. If
one goes haywire, the whole system breaks down.
In your office, the every day functions are kept running efficiently and effectively
with the help of internal operations. They are a road map for you to follow to
successfully reach your destination.
To “be organized”, requires that things be arranged in an orderly way to provide
unity. This means having certain methods established for doing things. These
methods can be called internal controls, administrative functions, or management
tools. It all boils down to having in writing ways of doing work and that everyone
in the Tribal Council knows about these ways of doing things and knows HOW to
do them properly.
Without organization, chaos rules. Everyone is reacting to situations. Everything
is a crisis. Consequently, work doesn’t get done, at least not in a timely manner.
Workers get ‘burned out’- tired from constantly responding to the next fire burning
out of control.

Again, the question is, do you want to be pro-active in your Tribal
Council management or in constant crisis mode?
The following Sections contain examples of administrative/organizing tools to
help you organize the Tribal Council’s day-to-day operations. These tools are
designed to help you be organized in an orderly way to avoid crisis management.
In addition, these organizing tools will enable the Tribal Council to have on hand
and ready to provide the ways of work that are now being required by granting
agencies for grant and proposal writing. The tools described are:
Tribal Council Organization Chart
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Tribal Council Filing System
Grant Files
Tribal Council Records Retention
Tribal Council Administrative Policies and Procedures
Council Travel
Tribal Council Property Policies and Procedures
Surplus Property Office
OMBs and CFRs
Insurance Coverage
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Section 1. Tribal Council Organization Chart

What is a Tribal Council Organization Chart?
The organization chart is a ‘road map’ showing the chain of command in the
Tribal Council. The organization chart is a visual drawing that shows the
supervisory, authority, communication and responsibility lines of the Council’s
programs and staff.

Why do you need an Organization Chart?
Without the ‘road map’ of an organization chart, no one in the organization will
know his/her place in the Tribal Council. There are several very good reasons
for an organization chart:
•The organization chart clearly shows the supervision lines within the Tribal
Council. It shows each employee or member who reports to whom. This is a
way for making sure an employee or elected official is held accountable for what
he was hired/voted to do.
•The organization chart lets the supervisor know the people and programs he/she
is responsible for overseeing. The supervisor is responsible for conducting
performance reviews with the people he/she supervises and to provide
assistance in job performance when needed.
•An organization chart is one of the required documents with grant programs.
The organization chart shows the funding agency how the Tribal Council’s
governing is organized and that it has the capability to manage a grant. When
submitting an application for a grant, be sure to include the organization chart
that SHOWS where the program being applied for fits in!

Who is responsible for developing and implementing an Organization Chart?
The Tribal Council should assume responsibility for developing and maintaining
the Tribal Council Organization Chart. The Tribal Administrator can assist with
this task, providing information about supervisory lines for staff. Once the
Organization Chart is developed, the Tribal Council should adopt the document.
This assures the Tribal Council’s approval of the ‘Chain of Command”.
The
Tribal Administrator provides staff with copies and provides them with information
about their position on the Chart.
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The Tribal Administrator should review the Organization Chart regularly,
providing updates as programs and/or personnel are added or eliminated and
obtaining Council approval of any adjustments.

How do you develop the Tribal Council Organization Chart?
Start at the top of the page. The Organization Chart will usually look like a
pyramid, made up of boxes and lines. The first step- Who has the ultimate
authority over what happens with the Tribal Council? The membership! The
Tribal Council membership is in a box at the top, with a line drawn downwards to
the elected Tribal Council. Another line downward connects the Tribal Council
President to the Tribal Administrator. Under the Administrator, there may be a
number of boxes with connecting lines. It all depends on how many programs
the Tribal Council operates. Don’t forget such Tribal Council programs as
Bookkeeping, Maintenance, Gaming.

CYA ASSIST: Another important thing to include on the Organization Chart are
the various advisory committees and sub committees that may be part of the
Tribal Council’s operations. All these groups of the Tribal Council should be
reporting to the proper authority.
See the Appendix Tab E for a sample organization chart where you can fill in the
blanks.
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Section 2. Tribal Council Filing System

What is a Tribal Council filing system?
A filing system is simply a way to keep papers in order. The papers should be
arranged in files in such a way that they are easily accessible to everyone
working for the Tribal Council.
The files contain all documents that pertain to Tribal Council business. It is a
CENTRAL file. This means every original document created by, to, or for the
Tribal Council that needs to be stored for future reference or is required to be
retained. The Central File includes all original grant materials.
Information from grant-funded projects is part of the Council’s central file. Any
and all original documents generated by a grant project should be filed in central
file.

Why do you need a Tribal Council filing system?
Do you remember when a grant agency called and asked for a copy of your
program report submitted six months ago? How about when an employee asked
to see payroll information for a year ago? Did this result in a lot of pulling of hair
and digging through mounds of paper? Does the Tribal Council office look as if
a tornado ripped through it? If you answered ‘yes’ to these questions, you
should now know why you need a filing system preferably in locked file cabinets
to avoid the tornado!
Here are some other reasons for having an orderly set of files:
•Each item you file is documentation of some sort as to the Council’s operations
and management.
•Tribal Council audit time will go much smoother and cost less if the auditors can
easily locate documents.
•Grant agency on-site monitoring visits will go smoother.
•With a filing system that clearly has a place for all important papers, the
unimportant papers can be filed in the “Round File”.
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Who is responsible for the filing system?
The Tribal Administrator should be responsible for developing, maintaining and
revising the filing system for the Tribal Council. The Administrator may wish to
include other staff members who regularly use the filing system as consultants in
preparing a suitable system.
The Tribal Administrator MUST train all office staff in how to properly file
information using the filing system.

How do you develop a filing system?
There are several ways to set up a filing system. An alphabetical listing of the
papers is the most common. However, the filing system can be numerical,
alphabetical, categorical or any combination of these options! The key to a
successful filing system is to have an index that writes down the system and that
the index is followed. The files should be located in a central location.
The suggested system is a modified alphabetical system. The system breaks
the files into broad categories, such as Finance, Administration, Personnel,
Grants, etc. Under each broad category, the more specific subjects are
alphabetized. When using this system, the user can go to a specific drawer with
the broad category label and easily find his/her subject matter.

CYA ASSIST: A sample filing system is located in the Appendix at Tab F for your
Central Files. If you set up the Tribal Council files in the suggested manner, it is
guaranteed to make life at the Tribal Council happier and easier.

FINISHED FILES ARE THE
RESULT OF YEARS OF SCIENTIFIC
STUDY COMBINED WITH THE
EXPERIENCE OF YEARS.
-Source Unknown
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ORGANIZATION ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Grant Files

Above and beyond everything else in the Tribal Council files, be sure that the
files are properly created and maintained for any and all grant programs.
At a bare minimum, create three file drawers or three sections for each grant:
1. Program File- Contains the original grant application and correspondence.
2. Administration File- Contains the original copy of the grant agreement, grant
award, grant modifications, progress reports, equipment inventories, closeout
report, grant program administrative manual, vendor contracts, subcontracts,
MBE/WBE or Disadvantaged Business Opportunity reports.
3. Finance File: Contains Financial Status Reports (FSRs), plus information on
draw downs, copies of invoices, copies of check requests and/or purchase orders
for the specific grant, copies of checks deposited for the grant or proof of
deposits.

CYA ASSIST: Where, you ask, are the originals? In the Tribal Council Central
File System, of course!

CYA ASSIST: Some people like to use a 6-flap folder for grant files.

CYA ASSIST: Please check the Appendix at Tab F for a sample of grant filing.
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Section 3. Tribal Council Records Retention

What is Tribal Council Records Retention?
Records Retention is a system that tells you what pieces of paper to keep and
what pieces of paper to throw away. Your Records Retention system should
include:
1. A list of what papers to keep
2. A description of where to keep them
3. A time frame for how long to keep them
Archiving is the process of storing the records to be retained.

Why do you need Tribal Council Records Retention?
How many times during the audit process has your auditor asked the location of
a certain piece of paper? Has a grant agency wanted proof of how funds were
spent? If you have saved the right pieces of paper, you can save money!
The reasons for a Tribal Council Records Retention system include legal
requirements. For example, some grant agencies require Tribal Councils to
maintain certain grant records for 3 years (depends on the grant agency) after
grant closing. Another reason for retaining records in an orderly manner deals
with the potential relevance of the paperwork to future litigation. Should there be
the possibility for an investigation of the Tribal Council or lawsuit against the
Tribal Council, it is critical to have supporting documentation of the Tribal
Council’s position. Records of the Tribal Council often contain important
historical data. For example, tribal enrollment provides family history should be
in a fireproof cabinet and/or on a CD.

Who is responsible for the Records Retention?
The Tribal Administrator should be responsible for establishing and maintaining
the Tribal Council’s Records Retention System. The Tribal Administrator should
assure that records are ‘archived’ each year per the Retention Schedule adopted
by the Tribal Council.
The Tribal Administrator should review the grants management information for
each Tribal Council grant program. He/she should determine the records
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retention requirements for each grant program and incorporate these
requirements into the Tribal Council’s Records Retention System.

How do you develop Tribal Council Records Retention?
There are many resources that describe what records should be retained by the
Tribal Council and for what period of time. In the Appendix at Tab G of this
Manual, you will find a suggested Records Retention Schedule. This Schedule
explains what documents should be kept permanently, what ones should be
retained for seven years, four years and two years. The Schedule is based on a
study of information provided by the Federal Government.
Permanent records should be maintained in the Tribal Council’s Central Filing
System. Duplicate copies of records can be destroyed at the time of archiving.
Annual financial records can be archived after the Tribal Council’s audit process
is completed.
The Tribal Council may decide that some information should be added to the
Schedule and should direct the Tribal Administrator to do so.

CYA ASSIST: There are special cardboard boxes designed for retaining records.
These boxes are usually closed, with space on the front to write contents and a
date for review or destruction.

CYA ASSIST: Consult each individual grant program for information on what
grant material to retain and for how long.

CYA ASSIST: Check the Appendix for a sample Records Retention Schedule,
Tab G.
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Section 4. Administrative Policies and Procedures

What are Tribal Council Administrative Policies and Procedures?
Administrative Policies and Procedures provide the tools for Tribal Council
employees and members to efficiently and effectively conduct the daily work of
the Tribal Council. Administrative Policies and Procedures address:
•The responsibilities of Tribal Council employees and members while performing
their duties.
•The processes by which accurate and reliable work will be conducted in a
uniform manner for the Tribal Council.
•The means to prevent conflicts or slippages in work responsibilities.

Administrative Policies and Procedures should describe such topics as Tribal
Council Travel, use of Tribal Council vehicles and equipment, functions in
running the office (mail processing, who has building keys, handling phone calls)
and grants management.

CYA ASSIST: The topics discussed in the previous sections above:
organization chart, filing system and records retention, should be part of the
Tribal Council’s Administrative Policies and Procedures.

Why do you need Tribal Council Administrative Policies and Procedures?
When the Tribal Council accepts funds from federal and state agencies or private
resources, the Tribal Council is accountable for ensuring that funds are properly
managed. The Tribal Council should establish proper controls so that programs
achieve the intended results, that resources are spent properly, that they are
protected from waste, fraud, mismanagement, and that laws and regulations are
followed.
Administrative Policies and Procedures provide the “processes for planning,
organizing, directing and controlling program operations for the Tribal Council”
(OMB Circular A-123). Tribal Council operations should function smoothly when
everyone uses them.
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W h o is responsible for the Tribal Council Administrative Policies and
Procedures?
The Tribal Council is responsible for ensuring that Tribal Council Administrative
Policies and Procedures are in place. Help is available to complete the
document. The Tribal Administrator can develop a draft document for the Tribal
Council to review and adopt. The Administrator can get professional assistance
with this process.
Once the Tribal Council has approved the Policies and Procedures, the Tribal
Administrator is responsible for implementing them. He/she should make sure
that all staff receives training in the processes.

How do you develop Tribal Council Administrative Policies and Procedures?
Contact other Tribal Councils and/or your regional non-profit corporation for
possible samples of Administrative Policies and Procedures. You can modify
these documents to meet your needs. It is recommended to not just copy these
samples, but carefully review them and adapt them for your Tribal Council.
Contract with a professional who develops policies and procedures and have
him/her draft a document that is specific for your Tribal Council’s situation and
work needs.
Review information provided by various grant agencies, including ANA, HUD and
EPA IGAP. These agencies have checklists to help you review your
administrative processes and determine what is needed. Use the EPA IGAP
“Administrative and Financial On-Site Protocol”. These checklists will help you
identify what administrative controls and processes you should have in place in
order to meet grant management requirements.
There are grant funds available to develop Administrative Policies and
Procedures. ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources that will fund policies
and procedures preparation and training.
Most important, once you have the Administrative Policies and Procedures
developed, USE them! Adopt the Administrative Policies and Procedures by
Tribal Council Resolution. Use this resolution in your grant writing to show proof
of having the policies and procedures in place. Be sure that all Tribal Council
staff and the Tribal Council Members receive training in implementing the
Administrative Policies and Procedures. And, the Tribal Administrator should
regularly monitor staff to be sure they are following the processes.
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CYA ASSIST: A sample of Administrative Policies and Procedures is part of the
CYA Manual information provided online at the BBNA website.
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ORGANIZATION ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Tribal Council Travel

A policy and procedure for Tribal Council Travel is a MUST. Travel information
should be included in the Tribal Council’s Administrative Policies and
Procedures.
Make sure that the Tribal Council’s Travel Policies and Procedures include the
following:
•What expenses the Tribal Council will reimburse while on Tribal Council Travel if
the Council is using a reimbursable system. This should be specific list.
Examples of reimbursable expenses might include: lodging, meals, airfare, taxi,
etc.
•When it is appropriate to travel on Tribal Council business. For example, the
Tribal Council should not plan to attend a conference in Anchorage if there is no
money available. Should a Tribal Council member or employee go ahead and
travel under such circumstance, this would not be appropriate or refundable!
•Who has the authority to authorize Tribal Council travel.
two signatures for approval.

Recommend having

•What travel is authorized. The only travel that should be taken is when there
are funds to cover the expense. AND, the only travel that is authorized is travel
that is specific to a grant program or is part of conducting Tribal Council
business. Just because there is money in the bank does not mean travel is
authorized. The travel must be authorized!
•What information the Tribal Council traveler must submit prior to and after the
travel occurs. The traveler should submit a Travel Request and obtain proper
authorization before he or she travels. When the traveler returns, he or she
should submit a Travel Report! The IRS and grant programs may require certain
documentation for audit and reimbursement processes. Make sure your Travel
Policies and Procedures reflect this.
•How travelers are expected to behave while on Tribal Council business and the
repercussions for misbehavior.
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CYA ASSIST: The Tribal Council should use the Federally-approved Per Diem
Rates that are published each year if travel uses federal funds. Some federal
agencies have specific travel policies and procedures as part of their grant
conditions.
The Tribal Council may have its own per diem rate that is used when not on
federally-funded travel. This may result in a cost savings. However, the per
diem rate cannot exceed the federal per diem rate, as it becomes income and
must be reported on income tax. Whatever is used must be in compliance with
federal guidelines and OMB.

CYA ASSIST: If travel under an EPA grant is not in your approved federallyfunded budget, you must contact the EPA to get approval prior to the travel.

No money, no travel!

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, source unknown
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Section 5. Property Policies and Procedures

What are Tribal Council Property Policies and Procedures?
Property Policies and Procedures provide a Tribe with a property management
system. The policies and procedures should include written processes for
procuring or acquiring property for the Tribal Council, for receiving the property
(part of the procurement process that overlaps with property management), and
for properly maintaining the property. For example, there should be a process for
making sure any Tribal equipment is adequately maintained so as to be in good
working order. Other parts of the property system include allowance for property
inventory and a property disposal.

Property that can be monitored with Property Policies
and Procedures includes facilities, supplies, equipment, tools, furniture, and
office equipment. The processes should be prepared to meet the requirements
of grant agencies, insurance carriers, and auditors. Here are some
requirements per EPA Title 40CFR.31.31 and .32 for equipment and real
property:
•Equipment purchased under a grant-award program may only be used by the
Tribe for that particular grant program as long as needed, whether or not the
project continues to be supported by Federal funds.
Equipment acquired for a particular project with Federal funds MAY be used for
other projects currently or previously supported by the Federal Government,
provided such use does not interfere with the work on the originally-acquiring
project.
•Should a Tribe no longer need real property for its originally authorize purpose,
the Tribe must request disposition instructions from the EPA. This could result in
either retention of title or sale of the property.
Should a Tribe no longer need equipment acquired under the grant, disposal
should be made following 40CFR31.32.(e). This citation explains that if the fair
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market value is less than $5,000, the equipment may be retained, sold or
disposed of without further obligation to the awarding agency. If the fair market
value is more than $5,000 may be retained or sold, but the awarding agency has
the right to an amount calculated by multiplying the current market value or
proceeds from sale by the awarding agency’s share of the equipment.
•An inventory should include: a property description, which grant paid for the
property, a title holder (if any), date purchased, cost, location, and property
disposal.
•EPA requires a physical inventory of the property be completed every two years.
Not everything that can be counted counts, and not everything
that counts can be counted. ---Albert Einstein

When I Was Short Cartoon, by Michael Fry and Guy Vasilovich, Seattle PI, 10/21/90

Why do you need Tribal Council Property Policies and Procedures?
As mentioned above, grant agencies often have requirements for property
purchased using grant funds.
Look at the EPA IGAP “Administrative and
Financial On Site Protocol”. This checklist for grant monitoring specifically asks
whether the Tribal Council has an inventory control system that follows federal
regulations. The Tribal Council should develop Property Policies and Procedures
in order to comply with grant funding requirements.
Revised accounting
regulations now require Tribal Councils to have property inventories. Under
GASB (Government Accounting Standards Board), beginning in 2003, Tribal
Councils are required to submit a statement of net assets. This includes
buildings, land, roads, vehicles, etc. Your auditor can assist in ensuring
compliance with this requirement.
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From a good business standpoint, it is important for the Tribal Council to maintain
accurate records on the property it purchases or acquires. The Tribal Council
should regularly monitor its property in order to check on condition, quantities on
hand and whether the property is still in Tribal Council control.
From a safety and liability standpoint, the Property Policies and Procedures
should include information on Tribal Council-owned and/or operated vehicles.
The policies and procedures should give specific direction to Tribal Council
employees or members as to who operate Tribal Council vehicles.

Who is responsible for the Tribal Council Property Policies and Procedures?
The Tribal Council is responsible for all property purchased with grant funds or
obtained through government surplus. The Tribal Council should be sure that
the policies and procedures for property management (a property management
system) are in place.
The Tribal Administrator is responsible for the proper use, care and safeguarding
of Tribal Council-owned property. The Tribal Administrator, along with the
Program Manager (if there is one) should maintain a property inventory and
ensure that staff is following proper procurement procedures for property
acquisition.

How do you develop a Tribal Council Property Policies and Procedures?
Again, use the resources that are readily available to you! Contact other Tribal
Councils and/or your regional non-profit corporation for possible samples of
Property Policies and Procedures. Modify these documents to meet your needs.
Contract with a professional who develops policies and procedures and have
something drafted that is specifically for your Tribal Council’s situation.
Review information provided by various grant agencies, including ANA, HUD and
EPA IGAP. These agencies have checklists to help you review your existing
property monitoring processes and determine what is needed. EPA IGAP
provides the “EPA Administrative and Financial On-Site Protocol”.
These
checklists will help you identify what property controls and processes you should
have in place in order to meet grant management requirements. Refer to the
“EPA Administrative and Financial Guidance Manual for Assistance Agreements”
for good particulars, Chapter 4.
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There is grant funding available to develop Property Policies and Procedures.
ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources.
CYA ASSIST: USE your Property Policies and Procedures once you have them.
Adopt the Property Policies and Procedures by Tribal Council Resolution. Use
this resolution in your grant writing to show proof of having the policies and
procedures in place. Provide training for staff in using the Property Policies and
Procedures.

CYA ASSIST: Register the Tribal Council with the Federal and State of Alaska
Surplus Property Agencies. The Council is eligible to purchase items that have
been surplused. Property includes: hand and machine tools, office machines,
furniture, motor vehicles, boats, construction equipment (graders, dozers, dump
trucks), electronics, etc. Rock bottom prices are readily available and waiting for
the Tribal Council with the cash. Alaska Native Tribes get priority making
Surplus Property purchases. Register Today!
The office is located in Anchorage at 2400 Viking Drive. Telephone: 907-2780352 or doa.alaska.gov/dgs/property/index.html OR in Juneau at 5011 Short
Street.

CYA ASSIST: Per 2 CFR Part 225, Appendix B.22, property purchased with
EPA funds should have insurance coverage equal to the insurance provided for
other property owned by the Tribe. Insurance costs are an allowable cost if
insurance is required in the Federal award. Federally-owned property does not
require insurance unless it is a grant requirement.
Per 40 CFR, Part 31.32, equipment “shall be used by the grantee in the program
or project for which it was acquired as long as needed, whether or not the project
or program continues to be supported by Federal Funds.” The equipment may
be used in other activities that receive or did receive Federal funds as long as
such use does not interfere with the work associated with the program under
which the equipment was acquired.
Please note that equipment purchased under EPA IGAP being used by other
Council programs is being closely scrutinized. Please check this Part for specific
language regarding equipment use, fees for use and disposal.

CYA ASSIST: Appendix H contains information on equipment per 40CFR.
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ORGANIZATION ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Know Your OMBs (AKA
Office of Management & Budget Circulars) and CFRs
The days of the 60’s and 70’s are gone. Now you have to be accountable.
-Tribal Elder
The Federal Government publishes documents that contain the basic policies for
managing federal grants. These documents are called “circulars”. The
government agency responsible for publishing these circulars in the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB).
As of the publication date of the CYA Manual, there are four OMB Circulars for
Tribal Councils to follow:
•OMB Circular #A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal
Governments, as revised May 10, 2004. The Circular tells you what are
allowable costs for spending Federal money.
•OMB Circular #A-102, Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local
Governments, as revised August 29, 1997. This Circular tells Federal agencies
how to manage grants and agreements with Indian Tribal Governments.
•OMB Circular #A-123, Management Accountability and Control, as revised, June
21, 1995. This Circular establishes management controls for Federal managers
to improve accountability and effectiveness of Federal programs.
•OMB Circular #A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit
Organizations, as revised July 1, 1996. This Circular tells you how to conduct
your audit to meet federal requirements.

CYA ASSIST:
OMBs may be found at the OMB website:
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/grants/grants_circulars.html OR, the granting
agency many include copies of the relevant OMBS in the grant administration or
management manual.
The Appendix Tab, I contains a short version of #A-87 allowable costs and is a
good reference when making purchases.
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CYA ASSIST: Circulars do change from time to time. Be sure to stay current.

A CFR is the abbreviation for Code of Federal Regulation. The Code of Federal
Regulation is the written rules and regulations or administrative law that is
published in the Federal Register by the departments and agencies of the
Federal Government. The contents of the CFR are based on laws passed by
Congress and further defined by the agency or department responsible for
enforcing that particular law. The CFR is divided into 50 titles of Federal
regulation. 40 CFR addresses protection of the environment, administered by
EPA; 24 CFR addresses housing and urban development; and 2 CFR addresses
allowed costs.
All the rules and regulations required for implementing an EPA IGAP grant are
found in 40 CFR, Part 31 which describes the “Administrative Requirements for
Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments”. 2 CFR,
Part 225 addresses cost principles. This information is condensed in OMB
Circular A-87.
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Section 6. Council Insurance Coverage

What Insurance Coverage Should a Council Consider?
There are many types of insurance coverage available to Tribal Councils. What
the Council chooses will depend on the assets that need covering and what is
required for coverage by grant funders. Here are some coverages to consider:
ºVehicle Insurance. Many Councils own vehicles, including autos, snow
machines and ATVs. Vehicle insurance provides coverage for property for
damage to or theft of the vehicle; liability for legal responsibility to others for
bodily injury or property damage; and medical for treating injuries, rehabilitation
and sometimes lost wages and funeral expenses. Vehicle insurance policies are
usually renewable every six months to a year.
ºProperty Insurance. Many Councils own buildings. Property insurance will
cover damage or destruction to a building from certain disasters. The Council
should make sure it obtains adequate coverage for building replacement and
that the policy covers basic types of disasters, such as fire, and building
inventory (furniture, office equipment). There may be additional charges for
floods or earthquakes. Also be sure that there is adequate liability coverage for
injuries that may occur to those working in or visiting the property.
ºWorkers’ Compensation Insurance. If the Council employs people, it needs
Workers’ Comp coverage. It is mandatory. This insurance covers all or part of a
workers’ wages that may be lost and the medical expenses incurred because of
a job-related injury.
ºBuilder’s Risk Insurance. If the Council is involved in constructing a building,
this coverage is a must. It insures against physical loss or damage to the
property that may occur during construction.
ºLiability Insurance. This is a general term that covers legal claims against the
insured. Along with the liability coverage aspects mentioned above (property,
vehicle), the Council should obtain Directors and Officers Liability Insurance.
This coverage protects the Council from costs associated with lawsuits resulting
from mistakes made by the Council members for which they are liable. This
coverage is commonly called “D&O” insurance.
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There are other types of insurance available, such as Boiler Insurance (to insure
against accidental physical damage to equipment or machinery); or Crime
Insurance (to protect against losses from theft or embezzlement).

Why Does the Council Need Insurance Coverage?
Insurance coverage for the Council ensures the protection and security of its
assets. It is good business. You don’t have to look very far to find the horror
stories of other Councils who have experienced devastating results due to the
lack of insurance- buildings burned down, employees or tribal members filing
suit, penalties for under or non-payment of mandatory coverage requirements
and building supplies lost. These are all actual examples that have taken place
in Alaska.
There is some insurance coverage that is required, such as Workers’
Compensation Insurance.
As mentioned in the Property Section above, the
EPA says that property purchased with EPA funds should have insurance
coverage equal to the insurance provided for other property owned by the Tribe.
Alaska is a mandatory insurance state for vehicles. However, per Alaska
Statute, a number of communities are exempt from both vehicle registration and
the mandatory insurance law.

CYA ASSIST: A list of communities exempt from vehicle insurance is located in
the Appendix at Tab J.

Who is Responsible for Obtaining Council Insurance Coverage?
The Tribal Council is responsible for determining the Council’s risk and deciding
what insurance to obtain. The Tribal Administrator should be involved to assist
the Council in making this determination. The Tribal Administrator should share
information as to any insurance requirements of grants, and the cost of various
types of insurance.
The Tribal Administrator is responsible for monitoring existing insurance
coverage, making sure that adequate coverage is maintained and policies are
renewed in a timely manner.
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How Does the Council Obtain Insurance Coverage?
Once the Tribal Council has determined what types of coverage it wants, it
should contact insurance providers. The Tribal Council should follow its
procurement policies and procedures for a small purchase and obtain quotes
from qualified providers.
After obtaining the insurance, keep a list of all insurance policies and the date of
expiration.

CYA ASSIST: The Amerind Risk Management Corporation is a nation-wide,
tribally-owned company that provides insurance coverage for Tribal Councils’
housing programs. Armerind may be reached at 1-800-352-3496 or on their
website at http://www.amerind-corp.org.
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CHAPTER 3: BE THRIFTY- Managing Your Money

“A fool and his money are soon parted.”
Overview:

Thrift means ‘the careful management of one’s money or resources’ (Webster’s
Dictionary).
Whatever the source of the Tribe’s funds, the Tribal Council is
responsible for ensuring that the funds are managed with care and in the best
interests of the entire organization- not for one’s individual gain.
The Tribal Council needs money to operate programs and services for its
members. Money comes to the Tribal Council in two forms: obligated funds and
non-obligated funds.

The obligated funds come from federal, state, local and private sources. When
the Tribal Council accepts funds from these sources, the Tribal Council is
OBLIGATED or RESTRICTED to spend the money as described in its grant
application. The grant agencies may allow the Tribal Council to make changes
in it original plans and within the budget. However, the Tribal Council must
obtain permission before moving forward with the revisions. And, it is unlikely
that the granting agency will provide more money. What you get is what you
have available to do the work at hand.
When the Tribal Council President signs the Grant Agreement, he/she is
obligating the Tribal Council to spend the money as originally presented. Any
unapproved deviation from the grant budget could jeopardize the entire Tribal
Council organization. Have you heard the horror stories of Tribal Councils
having to pay back grant funds because they were not used properly? It does
happen!

Non-obligated or unrestricted funds come to the Tribal Council from various
sources, including program income, gaming activities (bingo, pull tabs, raffles),
and fund raisers (dances, fiddling). The Tribal Council decides how best to utilize
these funds. However, the Tribal Council IS obligated to spend the funds for the
benefit of the Tribal Council! The Tribal Council’s Long Range Plan can assist in
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determining how non-obligated funds are spent by completing a financial or
funding plan as part of this document.

How should the Tribe manage its obligated and non-obligated funds?
The Tribe manages obligated and non-obligate funds by establishing the financial
management systems that assist the Tribe in keeping accurate books and
records. In order to properly manage its financial resources, the Tribe should
utilize governmental accounting. The objective of governmental accounting is to
provide financial reporting that represents the Tribal Government’s accountability
and custodial care of the resources entrusted to the Tribe. A Tribe’s financial
policies and procedures, general ledger and accounting records are tools that
demonstrate how funds are being managed on behalf of the Tribal members and
the agencies that provide the funding.
In the EPA’s 40CFR, Part 31, financial management systems of the Tribe must
meet the following criteria:
•Financial reporting- there is accurate, current and complete disclosure of the
finances. This is evident with regular financial reports, audits, etc.
•Accounting records- there are adequately maintained records that identify the
source of funding and how the funds are used.
•Internal control- there is effective control and accountability maintained for grant
funds and real and personal property. Financial Policies and Procedures and
inventory controls are examples.
•Budget Control- there is a process for comparing and tracking actual expenses
with budgeted amounts. Any financial reports accurately reflect the Council’s
expenses.
•Allowable Cost- there is the means to determine that the costs are reasonable,
allowed and allocable per OMB cost principles, funding agency regulations and
any grant terms that apply.
•Source Documentation- all accounting records are supported with
documentation such as cancelled checks, paid bills, contracts, payroll, time
cards, contracts, purchase orders, etc.
•Cash Management- there are procedures to minimize the time that elapses
between the transfer of funds from the U.S. Treasury and when the Tribe actually
disburses the funds.
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Along with the requirements of a particular funding agency, Tribal governments
are required to comply with governmental accounting requirements under the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP). Tribes must also comply with the General
Accounting Office (GAO) Office of Management and Budget (OMB) circulars.
These requirements may overlap. The Tribal staff (Administrator, bookkeeper
program/project managers) should work together to assure that spending is
appropriately done within the proper guidelines. In fact, every staff member
should have a clear picture of the Council’s bookkeeping process and receive
training in how to properly go through the financial process.
The Tribal Council must set up its bookkeeping so that it to can track each grant
project separately. For example, if you have grants for multiple years, set up the
books to reflect the budget for each year individually.
The following are tools discussed in the following sections to assist the Tribal
Council and its staff to manage its finances in a thrifty, respectful manner and in
compliance with agency requirements. With these tools in place and being used,
the Tribe is in a good position to be in compliance with EPA’s Title 40CFR Part
31, financial management systems.
Financial Policies and Procedures
Procurement Policies and Procedures
Making Small Purchases
Paper Trail
Cost Share
Cost and Price Review/Analysis
Budget
Financial Statements and Reports
Audits
Employee Time Cards/Time Sheets
Indirect Rate
Council Member Stipends
Village Prevailing Wage Rate
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Financial Terms & Definitions

As discussed earlier, the Council has a fiduciary responsibility to properly
manage the Council’s finances. Both Council Members and staff should have a
basic familiarity with financial terms and how they should be used. Here are
some common terms.
Accounts Payable- are funds that the Council owes. Accounts payable are
liabilities.
Accounts Receivable- are funds that are owed the Council. Even though you
don’t have the cash, it is an asset that is owed you. Accounts receivable may be
rent fees for equipment or building space.
Asset- is defined as anything owned that has a value. For example, your
personal assets may be the money in your pocket, a vehicle, or the belongings in
your home. The assets of the Council may include property or buildings,
equipment, accounts receivable, pre-paid expenses, and supplies.
Current assets are those that can be easily converted to cash. Some assets are
more difficult to “liquefy”, such as real property (land), investments, and
sometimes equipment and are called long-term assets.
Bad Debt- is money owed to the Council that cannot be collected. The Council
should not give credit or loan money to anyone who is not a good risk.
Balance Sheet- is a financial report that shows what the Council owns and owes
as of a specific date. The balance sheet lists the Council’s assets (what it owns)
and the Council’s liabilities (what it owes). If the balance sheet is figured
correctly, the total assets will equal the total liabilities plus the owners’ equity.
Book Value- is the original cost of an item minus accumulated depreciation. This
term is used in depreciation.
Budget- is a projection of revenues and expenses for a given period of time. See
Chapter 3, Page 26 for examples of different kinds of budgets.
Depreciation- is the cost of an asset spread over several years per GAAP. In
other words, “it is the reduction in the value of an asset due to usage, passage of
time, wear and tear, technological outdating, rot, rust, or decay”. (Wikepedia)
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There are several types of depreciation, however, the most common and
simplest is called ‘straight-line’ depreciation. For straight-line depreciation, the
Council will estimate the expected life and value of the asset at the time it will be
scrapped or disposed of. This value may be zero.
There are web sites that will calculate depreciation for you. All you need to do is
enter the original cost, the time period for the depreciation and the estimated
value at disposal.
Net Assets- is the monetary value of the Council that exceeds the claims against
it by others, i.e. liabilities. Sometimes net assets are called retained earnings or
fund balances.
GAAP- stands for generally accepted accounting principles. GAAP are
accounting rules used to prepare, present and report financial statements. For
governments, GAAP is determined by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board. (GASB). All recipients of federal funds must follow GAAP guidelines.
GASB- stands for the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. This is an
independent organization that establishes and improves standards of accounting
and financial reporting for federal, state and local governments. GASB is not a
government agency, but a branch of the Financial Accounting Foundation, which
is a private, not-for-profit agency.
Liabilities- are divided into short term and long term. Short-term liabilities are the
obligations and debts owed by the Council that are payable within one year.
Long-term liabilities are payments due beyond a 12-month period.
Net Worth- the excess of the assets of the Council over its liabilities.
Original Cost- is the cost needed for depreciation. The original cost includes any
cost incurred to acquire, transport and/or prepare the asset for its intended use.
This includes sales tax, freight, and installation.
Overhead- (as defined by Investorwords.com), are “the ongoing administrative
expenses of a Tribal government that cannot be attributed to any specific
business activity, but are costs still necessary for the Tribe to function. Overhead
includes such expenses as rent, utilities, insurance, and usually the wages for
the bookkeeper and tribal administrator. Overhead are your ‘indirect costs’ of
doing business, i.e., what you must pay to keep the bare bones operation going.
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Section 1. Financial Policies and Procedures

What are Financial Policies and Procedures?
Financial Policies and Procedures describe the requirements for processing
business and financial transactions of the Tribal Council. The primary goal of
Financial Policies and Procedures is to reduce and prohibit fraud by providing
internal controls, including checks and balances of financial duties and
processes.
Some likely topics for these Policies and Procedures include: handling daily
financial chores including accounts receivable and payable, bank deposits,
reconciling bank accounts, bank statements, petty cash, payroll, cash and in-kind
match and audit. Other topics, depending on the Tribal Council’s policy, might
include: stipends, emergency assistance grants, and gaming.
Be sure to
include information about who is responsible for completing the various
processes defined in the Financial Policies and Procedures. This means specific
financial instructions for the Tribal Council, Tribal Administrator, Project
Managers and Bookkeeper.
Financial Policies and Procedures give very specific instructions for handling the
processes. This ensures accuracy and complete disclosure of financial activities
in such a way to be easily followed. This is called leaving a paper trail.

CYA ASSIST: An example of a paper trail is the process used to issue a check.
As described in the Financial Policies and Procedures, the paper trail starts when
a purchase order or check request is created to make a purchase. The trail
continues as the goods or supplies are received with a bill of lading or packing
slip; the invoice is received; proper approvals are made; a check is issued, the
check is signed and the check is mailed. The paper trail is complete once the
invoice, purchase order or check request, copy of the check, and bill of lading or
packing slip are stapled together and are properly filed in the vendor file.
Some grant agencies like to see a copy of the invoice attached to reports. Be
sure to set up your paper trail per your process requirements and that of the
granting agency.
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Why do you need Financial Policies and Procedures?
Tribes usually derive their revenues from public funding sources, including:
grants, contracts, public authorities and other public funding sources and taxes.
Tribal Councils need Financial Policies and Procedures to meet the requirements
of grant funding agencies (federal, state, private), the independent auditor (if
required) and of the Tribe. These agencies want assurance that the Tribal
Council will properly handle any funds they give the Tribal Council. They often
have very specific requirements for grant funds that the Tribal Council must
follow. Having and using the processes in the Financial Policies and Procedures
assist the Tribe in compliance with funding restrictions, spending limits or budget
restrictions and other fiscal accountability objectives.
The Federal Government issues OMB (Office of Management and Budget)
Circulars that provide financial requirements. Tribal Councils should review
OMB Circulars A-133, A-102 and A-87 for guidance in developing financial
management systems. Specific grants have CFRs (Code of Federal
Regulations) that should be followed. For example, EPA IGAP grant
requirements are contained in CFR Title 40.

Non Sequitur Cartoon By Wiley Miller, Ketchikan Daily News, 3/10/06

Other reasons for Financial Policies and Procedures include cost savings and
improved accountability. Often Tribal Councils spend considerable amounts of
money having bookkeeping services prepare for audits. By following the
financial processes, these expenses can be significantly reduced.
The Financial Policies and Procedures provide the means to monitor Tribal
Council income, expenses and assets through the Tribe’s accounting system.
They should contain the process for developing and maintaining a budget and
financial reports, which the Tribal Council should review monthly.

Who is responsible for developing Financial Policies and Procedures?
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The Tribal Council is responsible for assuring that adequate and appropriate
Tribal Council Financial Policies and Procedures are adopted and in place. The
Tribal Council President can direct the Tribal Administrator to develop a draft
document for the Tribal Council to review and adopt. The Tribal Administrator
may seek professional assistance with this process. Or, the Tribal Administrator
may be able to use documents from other sources to help develop the policies
and procedures the Council needs.
Once the Tribal Council has approved the Policies and Procedures, the Tribal
Administrator and Tribal Council are responsible for implementing them. He/she
should make sure that all staff receives training in the processes and regularly
monitors staff to be sure they are following the processes.

How do you develop and use Financial Policies and Procedures?
Use the resources available! Contact other tribal councils and your regional nonprofit corporation for possible samples. You can modify these samples to meet
your needs. It is recommended to not copy these samples, but carefully review
them and adapt them for your Tribal Council.
You can contract with a professional who develops policies and procedures and
have something drafted that is specific for your Tribal Council’s situation and
needs. An added benefit of using the contract services approach can be to
include a training session with the contractor for staff and Council Members.
Your auditor may have suggestions for setting up financial processes. Often,
bookkeeping software has financial guidelines that can be used. Keep in mind
that current available bookkeeping software is not necessarily designed for tribal
governments. Tribes should be careful when using non-profit or for-profit
accounting software as regulations for these entities will differ from Tribes who
must follow governmental accounting principles.
There is grant funding available to develop Tribal Council Financial Policies and
Procedures. ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources. You may find samples
of policies and procedures from federal funding programs such as EPA IGAP and
HUD ICDBG. Remember to make sure all policies and procedures address grant
agency requirements.
Most important, once you have the Financial Policies and Procedures developed,
USE them! Adopt the Financial Policies and Procedures by Tribal Council
Resolution. Use this resolution in your grant writing to show proof of having the
policies and procedures in place. Be sure that all Tribal Council staff and the
Tribal Council Members receive training in implementing the Financial Policies
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and Procedures. And, regularly monitor staff to be sure they are following the
processes.
Be sure the Tribe’s financial policies and procedures correspond with the
accounting system being used. The financial policies and procedures should
adhere to generally-accepted accounting principles for tribal governments, OMB
and other regulating agencies.

CYA ASSIST: Remember that governmental accounting requires a Tribe to use
fund accounting for specific activities and funding resources for reporting
purposes. Talk with a CPA, auditor or the GASB for more information on fund
accounting and fund classification structure.

CYA ASSIST: A sample of Financial Policies and Procedures may be found
online at the BBNA website.
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Section 2. Procurement Policies and Procedures

What are Procurement Policies and Procedures?
Procurement Policies and Procedures are simply the process for the Tribal
Council to use when making purchases. The procurement process describes
step-by-step how the Tribal Council should go about buying goods and services
in a fair and equitable manner while meeting grant agency requirements.
There are several types of procurement methods including: small purchase
method, sealed bid or formally advertised, competitive proposal purchasing
method, and non-competitive (sole source) purchasing method. The Tribal
Council should follow the Procurement Policies and Procedures directions to
decide which method is appropriate given the circumstances of each purchase.
EPA provides some specific language about these methods in the “EPA Tribal
Administrative and Financial Guidance Manual for Assistance Agreements”.
There are different types of contracts that can be used for each purchase. These
include: fixed price contracts for supplies and services or cost reimbursement
contracts. The federal government does not allow cost-plus contracts.
The Procurement Policies and Procedures should describe the Code of Conduct
for Tribal Council members and staff when making purchases. Those making
purchases are obligated to spend the funds appropriately and not show
favoritism when selecting suppliers or contractors. Purchasers may not have a
conflict of interest with any supplier or contractor contacted.
Tribes are required to disclose related-party transactions to their auditors. A
related-party transaction is a business deal or arrangement between two parties
who are joined by a special relationship prior to the deal. An example of a
related-party transaction would be a business transaction between a shareholder
and a Tribal Council member or staff, such as a contract for the shareholder’s
company to perform renovation to the Tribe’s offices.
Other information that should be included in your Procurement Policies and
Procedures include:
•Tribal Council responsibilities for procurement
•Code of Conduct when making purchases
•Process for conducting cost and price review
•Specific criteria for construction contract bonds
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Most procurements made by Tribal Councils are usually under $100,000. This
amount is the current maximum established by the Federal Government for a
purchase method called “Small Purchase Method”.
Once you know the
estimated amount of the procurement, you can follow the guidelines for making a
small purchase IF the purchase is under the $100,000. limit.
Please refer to OMB procurement and allowable expenses found in A-102 and A87 as well as the appropriate CFR, (40CFR.31.36 for EPA) depending on the
funding source.

Why do you need Procurement Policies and Procedures?
Plain and simple, the Tribe is required to use Procurement Policies and
Procedures when spending federal funds. It is a means for you to document
your purchasing process while meeting the agency’s requirements. The Uniform
Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements (40 CFR
Part 31) applies to the Federal grants and Cooperative Agreements made to the
Tribal Government. Check out 40 CFR Part 31.36 for specifics on procurement
with EPA funds.
Another reason to have Procurement Policies and Procedures is to obtain the
best value for the work. It’s easy to just go buy something. However, are you
getting the ‘biggest bang for your buck?’ The way to make sure is to use a
procurement process. This way, you have the opportunity to look over as many
potential prices as possible and make an informed decision with Council money.
Remember, when you are spending grant money, you are unlikely to get more.
As stated above, Procurement Policies and Procedures can help the Tribe make
purchases in a fair and equitable manner. When properly used, the procurement
process will leave a ‘paper trail’ that will show that funds are being properly
spent.
This paper trail will be helpful at audit time and when the granting
agency conducts its evaluation or completes on-site monitoring.

Non Sequitur Cartoon by Wiley Miller, Ketchikan Daily News, 8/8/06
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Who is responsible for developing Procurement Policies and Procedures?
As with all Tribal Council Policies and Procedures, the Tribal Council is
responsible for assuring that Procurement Policies and Procedures are adopted
and implemented. The Tribal Council is further responsible for establishing the
purchase limits for the Tribal Administrator. The Tribal Council can direct the
Tribal Administrator to develop a draft document for the Tribal Council to review
and adopt. The Tribal Administrator may seek professional assistance with this
process- highly recommended.
The Procurement Policies and Procedures should be adopted by Tribal Council
Resolution. Most granting agencies will want a copy of the Resolution, and in
some instances, a copy of the Policies and Procedures.
The Tribal Administrator should assure that all staff and Tribal Council Members
have received training in the procurement process and understand how to make
purchases for the Tribal Council. He/she is responsible for monitoring staff to be
sure they are following the processes.

How do you develop Procurement Policies and Procedures?
By now you have hopefully gotten the idea that there are many resources out
there for you to use in preparing policies and procedures. As mentioned earlier,
you can contact other Tribal Councils and/or your regional non-profit corporation
for possible samples of Procurement Policies and Procedures. Do not just copy
them, but modify these documents to meet your needs. Contract with a
professional who develops policies and procedures and have him/her draft a
document that is specifically for your Tribal Council’s situation and work AND
complies with the federal regulations. Include in your contract a training session
on the Procurement Policies and Procedures with the contractor. The EPA
IGAP has developed a document called “Purchasing Supplies, Equipment and
Services Under EPA Grants” that describe the Tribe’s responsibilities in the
procurement process.
There are grant funds available to develop Procurement Policies and
Procedures. ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources that will fund policies
and procedures preparation and training.
Most important, once you have the Procurement Policies and Procedures
developed, USE them! Adopt the Procurement Policies and Procedures by
Tribal Council Resolution. Use this resolution in your grant writing to show proof
of having the policies and procedures in place. Be sure that all the Tribe’s
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Council and staff receive training in implementing the Procurement Policies and
Procedures.

With Procurement Policies and Procedures, please take care that what
you develop and implement meet the minimum government requirements!
THIS IS VERY IMPORTANT!!! Tribal Councils have had to pay back grant
funds because they did not follow proper procurement processes!

CYA ASSIST: A sample of Procurement Policies and Procedures is located
online at the BBNA website.
CYA ASSIST: In the sample Procurement Policies and Procedures, you will find
definitions of terms to help you in the procurement process. Please refer to
Section 2.0 in the document. Here you will find the definitions of Contract Types
(Fixed Price, Cost Reimbursement and Cost Plus), and others.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Anchorage Daily News, 7/7/09

CYA ASSIST: Tab K has EPA information about purchasing supplies, equipment
and services. On Page 6 of this EPA information is Appendix B, Contract
Provisions, which should be added to your procurement contract agreements.
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Making SMALL Purchases

Since the Small Purchase Method will be used most often by the Tribal Council,
the following is a step-by-step process for you to use for this method. The Small
Purchase Method may be used for purchasing supplies, equipment and services
that do not cost more than $100,000.
NOTE: The following dollar ranges are recommended by your Trainer. Using
these amounts gets your paper trail started for your documentation processes.
The dollar ranges are arbitrary, except for the $25,000. (State) and $100,000.
(Federal). The Tribal Council may fill in what dollar ranges it wants for Small
Purchases in its Procurement Policies and Procedures.

Here are the suggested steps to follow:
IF the purchase is for more than $100, (or whatever amount the Tribal Council
decides, (BBNA Auditors recommend starting at $1,000), you should use the
Procurement Request Form. NOTE: It is highly recommended that the Tribal
Council direct that the Procurement Request Form be used for ALL purchases
because of these two words: Paper Trail! A copy of this form is located in the
Appendix of the Procurement Policies and Procedures document.

1a. IF the purchase is between $100 and $2,500, the purchaser should solicit at
least two or three catalog or vendor prices. This can be done by phone or fax
and then the information recorded on the Procurement Request Form.
1b. IF the purchase is between $2,500.01and $25,000, the purchaser must
solicit at least two proposals, preferably three when possible. The purchaser
should prepare in writing the specific information (a request for proposals) for
vendors to respond. The more responses obtained, the better the possibility to
obtain a better price. The purchaser can get the responses by fax or letter.
He/she should leave enough time for the vendors to respond to the request for
proposals.
1c. IF the purchase is between $25,000.01 and $100,000, the purchaser must
solicit three or more written bids or quotes. The request for bids or quotes should
be sent by fax or certified mail to each of the potential bidders. The purchaser
should be sure to send the request for bids to established firms with known or
advertised capabilities to fill the order or provide the service. The request for
bids should contain very specific information about time and freight limits and
other specifics related to the purchase.
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1d.
IF the purchase if over $100,000, the formal bid procedure must be
followed. This includes providing written specifications of what is wanted, the
qualifications of the vendor, time constraints, etc. For this procedure, the
purchaser should advertise (newspaper)! Be very specific in what you want!
NOTE: There is some variation among grant funders in this area. Be sure to
check your specific grant agreements and regulations.
NOTE: When dealing with such large amounts as in 1c and 1d, the Council may
want to have the purchaser obtain Council pre-approval of the purchase by
motion.

CYA ASSIST: Be sure to conduct a price and cost analysis for procurement
purchases. This is a requirement when using EPA and other federal grant funds.

CYA ASSIST: A scoring sheet should be used that shows the criteria used to
select a contractor and the ratings given to each responder. This is usually when
purchasing services, such as architect/engineer services or other such
professional services. Several examples of RFPs and a sample Scoring Sheet
are located in the Appendix at Tab L.

CYA ASSIST: Be sure the person(s) making the selection does not have a
conflict of interest!

2. Before finalizing the selection, the Tribal Administrator must verify that the
vendor is NOT on the federal government Suspension and Debarment List.
Once the final decision is made as to whom to make the purchase from, the
Tribal Administrator shall submit the completed Procurement Request Form and
a filled in Purchase Order to the Tribal Council President for approval. Attach
any copies of supporting documents, including Request for Proposals, Request
for Quotes, and vendor responses.
If the lowest price is not selected, provide a written explanation as to why.

3. The President signs off on the Procurement Request and Purchase Order. A
copy of the Purchase Order goes to the bookkeeper for the Vendor File, a copy
to the Grant/Project Administrator/Tribal Administrator for the project file and the
original of the Purchase Order goes to the vendor.
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The Grant/Project Administrator/Tribal Administrator should call the vendor to
notify that the Purchase Order has been sent and verify details about the order,
such as shipping, packaging, handling, etc.

4. Receive the goods! Follow the Tribal Council’s policies and procedures for
receiving the goods. This information should be in the Tribal Council’s Property
Policies and Procedures. Steps in the process of receiving the goods include:
the goods arrive; verify the goods received against the purchase order; find the
bill of lading or packing slip and sign off on the receipt of the goods.

5. Issue a Check Request and use the purchase order number to pay for the
goods or services. Once there is verification of receipt of all things ordered, the
bookkeeper issues a check for payment using the Tribal Council’s Finance
Policies and Procedures for issuing a check.

NOTE: Per the Prompt Payments Act (5.CFR.1315 adopted 9/29/99), any
recipient of federal funds is required to pay the correct portion of an account
payable while disputing any incorrect amounts. Any interest penalties charge to
grantees may not be paid with federal funds nor be used as match.

CYA ASSIST: Follow this procurement process when making purchases for the
Council. Not doing so can have very harsh consequences, including legal action,
withdrawal of grant funds, and disqualification for future funding.
Use the sample procurement steps located in the Appendix at Tab M.

CYA ASSIST: Tribes are allowed to make considerations of vendor selection
based on P.L. 93-638.

Remember, you get what you pay for. –John Schroeder, SCS, llc
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CYA ASSIST: There may be occasions when the Tribal Council obtains goods
or services using the Non-Competitive or Sole Source Procurement Method.
Here are the circumstances when this type of procurement may be authorized:
√The Council determines that the item or service is available from only one
source.
√The Council determines that there are unforeseeable needs or an emergency
that will not permit a delay resulting from competition.
√There is only one responder to a bid request or solicitation issued to several
sources. In such instances, the Council shall conduct a cost analysis.
√The Council requests and obtains federal granting agency approval to use the
noncompetitive proposal method for some other reason.
Councils should check their grant award conditions to see if there is a specific
method required by the granting agency for sole source procurement.

The Council MUST prepare a written justification for the sole source
action. The justification can be a few lines explaining the process gone through
and the reasons why the sole source is necessary. Include the written
justification with all the procurement paperwork (paper trail) for the purchase.

CYA ASSIST: Samples of Sole Source Justifications are located in the Appendix
at Tab M.
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CYA ASSIST: The Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act
requires that “any grant awarded for the benefit of Tribes must first use positive
efforts to use Native-owned businesses”. (25USC450e)

CYA ASSIST: The Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program is a
requirement of EPA and other federal funders. Tribes must “make good faith
efforts to locate and use disadvantaged businesses, comprising women-owned
business enterprises (WBEs) and minority business enterprises (MBEs) including
small businesses enterprises and rural areas, Native American-owned
businesses, and firms in labor surplus areas.” (40CFR.33.36.(e).
In 2008, DBE rules regarding “fair share” goals were revised. The revised rules
were implemented in 2011. You may find the specific language regarding Good
Faith Efforts at 40CFR.33.C.33.304.
The six Good Faith Efforts in order to meet this requirement include:
•Ensure DBEs are made aware of contracting opportunities to the fullest extent
practicable through outreach and recruitment activities. This includes placing
DBEs on solicitation lists and solicit them when they are potential resources.
•Make information on opportunities available to DBEs and arrange time frames
for contracts and establish delivery schedules, where the requirements permit, to
encourage and facilitate DBE participation in the competitive process. This
includes, when possible, posting solicitations for bids or proposals for a minimum
of 30 calendar days before the bid or proposal closing date.
•Encourage contracting with a consortium of DBEs when a contract is too large
for one of these firms to handle individually.
•Divide the work components, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or
quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority business, and
women’s business enterprises.
•Use the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration and the
Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of Commerce.
•Require the prime contractor, if there are subcontracts being let, to take the
same steps as those listed above.
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CYA ASSIST: Use Form #5700-52A to report DBE activity. The grant award
should contain the reporting schedule, usually yearly by October 30 and a final
closeout report.

CYA ASSIST: By 2011, DBEs must be certified to be counted toward a Tribe’s
DBE activities that are reported on Form #5700-52A. DBEs may no longer selfcertify, i.e., just announce that they are DBEs. They must now be certified by a
federal agency or non-federal entity, including the SBA, or EPA. Forms are
available to accomplish this. It is up to the DBE to complete this process!
EPA requires a DBE to complete an application form that includes a sworn
affidavit and proof of DBE status.
The EPA form may be found at:
http://www.epa.gov/osbp/dbe_firm.htm.

CYA ASSIST: DBEs include businesses that are 51% owned and/or controlled
by Women Owned Business Enterprises (WBEs) and Minority Business
Enterprises (MBEs) that consist of: Native American-owned businesses, Small
Business Enterprises, Small Businesses in Rural Areas, Labor Surplus Area
Firms, Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUBZones) and Veteran-owned
Businesses).

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 78 of 143

MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Procurement Paper Trail

Be sure to include copies of all documents used during the procurement process.
The Procurement Request Form should be attached to the Purchase Order and
supporting documentation of the solicitation process. This includes a copy of the
proof of contact with the vendors contacted, such as certified mail receipt or fax
transmittal sheet.
When conducting a purchase that requires a bidding process, include information
on the selection method, scoring method, how each vendor was scored and the
price and cost analysis. Include verification that the government Suspension and
Debarment List was checked. Other documents to be attached are the Check
Request and a copy of the check. Then file everything!

CYA ASSIST: When making small or major purchases, follow the Financial
Policies and Procedures paper trail mentioned in Section 1 and include all the
documentation of the purchase process.
Use the steps in Tab M and the forms included with the sample Procurement
Policies and Procedures.

CYA ASSIST: Remember- when purchasing with grant funds, the Tribal Council
must make sure that the purchase complies with the standards set in the grant
award. When in doubt, call your grant advisor.

Examples of documents that create a paper trail are: cancelled checks, paid
bills, payroll, time cards, contracts, purchase orders, purchase requisitions, travel
requests, travel reports, value of donated goods and/or services, inventories, etc.
These documents belong in your central file!
Use good judgment- document everything!

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 79 of 143

MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Consultants & Contractors

The Tribal Council may want to hire professionals who provide services beyond
the expertise of its staff. Under federal funding requirements, the Council has
several options for hiring the experts to complete the necessary work activitiesuse a consultant or a contractor. Here is an overview of both approaches.
Consultant: is an individual or a firm who provides a specialized service hired at
an hourly or daily rate of compensation in order to help the Council deal with
problematic or conceptual issues. For example, if the Council wants to hire a
water sampler, it may do so as a consultant rather than an employee.
If you hire the individual or firm directly, i.e. no RFP process, you must follow the
specific requirements of the federal funding agencies. The EPA requirements for
the use of consultants are found at CFR Title 40, Part 31.36(j) for specific
information. Under this section, the Council must follow particular requirements
regarding consultant pay. As of January 1, 2010, the limit per day is $74.50 per
hour and $596.00 per day. This hourly rate does not include transportation, per
diem or overhead.
The Council should enter into a signed agreement with the consultant that
specifies the hourly or daily rate and the work/tasks to be accomplished.
NOTE: A consultant will not be covered by the Council’s worker’s compensation
insurance nor any of the other tax burden (FICA, USC) paid by the Council. This
is the responsibility of the consultant.

Contractor: is an individual or a firm who provides a specialized service hired
through the Council’s procurement process, i.e., by the issuance of an RFP
(Request for Proposals). In other words, if the Council uses the procurement
process, it can hire a consultant as a contractor.
EPA recommends that the Council should use its procurement process for
obtaining the services of a consultant. Factors in procuring a consultant should
include: the expertise of the consultant to provide the required services; proven
quality of work, availability to complete services in a timely manner, ability to
provide services at the required location and the cost for services. It is highly
desirable to obtain bids for services from more than one consultant. If this is not
possible, the Council must provide sole source justification.
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However, sometimes it may not be cost effective to use the RFP process,
particularly if you are on a deadline. In such cases, and the individual is readily
available, it may be more expedient to hire for the services as a consultant or an
employee.
Whatever the approach used to get the work done, the Council must document
its process for making its choice.

EPA recommends that when preparing your budget narrative
justification for your EPA IGAP application, identify if you are
obtaining the services of a consultant that will be hired with an
advertised with an RFP and be under a contract.
This should
reduce the need for further clarification by EPA staff and hurry up the
approval process.
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Cost Share

Remember that the Tribal Council, working with the Tribal Administrator, are the
custodians of federal grant monies. All purchases must be made according to
the funding agency requirements and used for the specific grant program paying
for the goods. This means that when making purchases for specific projects with
the grant money, the items purchased must be used specifically for the benefit of
the project that paid for the goods.
For example, a grant-funded program purchases a copier. It is a disallowed cost
to purchase the copier and then have it used by several other programs besides
the one who paid for the copier. The cost of the item must be shared or split out
among all the programs that will benefit from the purchase.

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 82 of 143

MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: COST AND PRICE
REVIEW/ANALYSIS, AND “REASONABLE, ALLOWABLE and ALLOCABLE
COSTS”

In accordance with OMB Circular A-87 and grant-funding agencies such as EPA,
all costs (including cost share or match costs) made with grant funds must be
“reasonable, allowable and allocable”. A Tribe should check all its purchases
made with federal funds to ensure for reasonableness, allowableness and
allocation.
Here is how EPA defines ‘reasonable, allowable and allocable”:
A reasonable cost is an expense that is sensible. “The most expensive item
should not be purchased or used when an equivalent quality item that can do the
job just as well is available at a lower cost”. You don’t need to buy the more
expensive brand name when a generic product is capable of doing the same job,
but for less money.
Checking the cost of supplies, equipment and services for ‘reasonableness’ is
called a “cost and price analysis” or a “cost and price review”. When conducting
the cost analysis or review, the Tribe evaluates each “major cost category to
determine its reasonableness in each category and of the total cost of a contract
or change order”.
EPA requires the Tribe to develop an independent cost estimate for the
purchases being made. You can do this by looking through catalogs or checking
store prices. Or, the Tribe wants to procure the services of a contractor to
conduct a training. The Tribe should obtain the costs of all the components of
the proposed scope of work, including personnel, travel, lodging, etc. that may
be a cost of the training. This may be called a ‘fee schedule’. The same
information should be obtained from each responder for comparison purposes.
The Tribe should verify that the hourly rate is reasonable. Contact other tribes
who may have worked with the potential providers to confirm what they are
charging per hour. The important thing is to document what was done to
establish the estimated cost.
Each responder should certify that he/she is providing accurate, current and
complete information. You can include this language in your RFP, requesting
the responder to use it in his/her reply.
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RFP Certification:
“This is to certify that the above described cost data is complete, current and
accurate to the best of my knowledge.”
_______________________________
Signature/Date

The price analysis should include the comparison of quotations or bids submitted
with current market prices and be checked for reasonableness.
The cost and price analysis is definitely a ‘must’ when the Tribe is making a sole
source procurement, any contract modifications or change orders.
All information collected in a cost and price review or cost and price analysis
needs to be documented and becomes part of the paper trail used in the
procurement process.

An allocable cost is when the purchase is made to directly benefit the program
that is paying for it. “A cost is allocable to a grant if it is incurred solely in order to
advance the work planned under the grant”. For example, under OMB Circular
A-87, any cost allocable to a specific EPA grant may not be charged to other
federal grants.
There are times when a cost may be allocable to multiple grant programs. Be
sure there is an adequate paper trail that shows how the cost is allocated.

According to EPA, a cost is ‘allowable’ if it is reasonable and allocable, AND:
•is consistent with policies, regulations and procedures that apply to
federal funding and tribal governments.
•is given consistent treatment as other similar costs.
•complies and conforms with OMB Circular A-87, including limits and
exclusions, as well as other governmental requirements that may apply.
•is adequately documented.
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Please reference the EPA “Tribal Administrative and Financial Guidelines Manual
for Assistance Agreements”, Chapter 4.
CYA ASSIST: Check Tab I for a chart showing cost allowability for select item.
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MONEY ASSET BONUS PROTECTION: Matching and In-Kind Contributions

Sometimes, a Tribal Council will contribute towards the cost of a particular
project, providing matching and/or in-kind contributions. In some cases, a grant
program may require the Tribal Council to contribute to the project. For example,
the ANA program requires a 20% match of cash and/or in-kind.
These
contributions must be tracked and documented just the same as your grant
award funds.
The tracking and documenting should be handled as a separate accounting
account and have the support documentation as you would for your grant funds,
such as cancelled checks, time cards, etc. Your documentation should have the
signature of the individual or organization that donated the services or goods,
and show how the value of the services or goods was determined.
Make sure you set up your files to keep track of the match and in-kind
documentation. Develop a form to serve as a record of the donation. Have the
person making the donation sign the form and attach any of your documentation
to the form.
For example, someone volunteers his/her time picking up garbage. If you paid a
person to do this, it would cost you $12.00 per hour. Fill out a time card for the
volunteer with his/her hours on it and have the person sign it along with your
donation form.
Or, someone donated a computer to the Council. The value of the donated
goods, in this case, the computer, is based on the market value at the time of the
donation. In other words, what is the highest estimated price that the Council
would pay for this item in an open and competitive market? To be safe, check
out a catalog or go on line and get a cost estimate. Let’s say the computer is
valued at $500. The Council would fill out its documentation form, have the
donor sign it and file it. If you found a cost estimate in the catalog or on line,
copy or print that out and attach to the documentation.
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Section 3. Budget

What is a budget?
A budget is a financial plan that serves to control and account for future
expenses and revenues during a fiscal or twelve-month period. The budget is
based on the programs and services the Tribal Council plans to provide during
that time period. The idea of a budget is to present the numbers that show how
much money the Tribal Council plans to receive (income or revenues) and how
much the Tribal Council plans to spend (expense).
Remember: the budget is what the Tribal Council is planning financially in the
future. Budgets are usually presented as financial reports. The most useful
financial reports show the budget projections compared to actual numbers,
usually on a monthly or weekly basis. The budget is a way to ensure that
revenues and expenses are being effectively managed throughout the year.
There are several types of budgets the Tribal Council can use. These budgets
are combined as one to show an overall picture of what is planned financially for
the Tribal Council. They are:

•Line Item Budget: This shows all the income and expenses for a particular
project or program. Each line item or category of income and expense is listed.
This kind of budget is what is prepared for grant applications or for capital
projects. For capital projects, such as construction, the line item budget may be
called the capital budget.
Program Budget: This shows the income and expenses for each program. The
information is presented by line item for EACH program activity of the Tribal
Council.
Operating Budget: This shows the income and expenses for Tribal Council
operations only. The operating budget shows the income from sources other
than grants and contracts (bingo, rent, pull tabs, raffles) and the costs to cover
basic Tribal Council administrative operations- janitor, electricity, rent, fuel.

The budget that combines all of the above budget types is called a
Comprehensive Operating Budget. This budget shows ALL the income and
expenses for the Tribal Council from ALL sources, including each enterprise,
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grant, general fund, internal service, private purpose, or trust, all with their own
fund account.

Why do you need a budget?
The budget is a management tool. By having a budget at the beginning of the
Tribal Council’s fiscal year, the Tribal Council can monitor actual income and
expenses. The budget is compared to ACTUAL numbers that are presented in
the Financial Reports. This should be done at least once a month, possibly more
often depending on the Tribe’s preference.

Non Sequitur Cartoon by Wiley Miller, Ketchikan Daily News, date unknown

Funding agencies will often require the Tribal Council to provide a copy of its
current budget when submitting a funding proposal. You will need to submit a
budget that shows Tribal Council operations and programs.
Grant agencies require you to prepare a budget that specifically explains how
grant funds will be spent on the grant project being requested. The grant
agency will want to see two specific presentations of the budget: a Line Item
Budget that lists each item and a corresponding amount and a Budget
Justification. The line items for a grant budget usually fall into these categories:
Salaries/Wages or Personnel, Fringe Benefits/Tax Burden, Travel, Equipment,
Contract, and Other.
The Budget Justification provides a narrative explanation as to how the cost for
each item was determined. Sometimes, Letters of Commitment or letters from
outside sources justifying costs are included in your grant application in support
of the proposed budget. NOTE: The budgets provided to most grant agencies
are not necessarily in the same level of detail as the Tribal Council may chose for
its Comprehensive Operating Budget.
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Chapter 1 discusses how the budget should relate to the Tribe’s long range plan.
If it is in the budget, it should be in the long range plan, and vice versa.

Who is responsible for the budget?
The Tribal Administrator is responsible for drafting the Tribal Council’s annual
budget, based on what programs will be operating during the coming year.
He/she also estimates the operating costs of the Tribal Council during the coming
year (fuel, electricity, janitor, office supplies, etc.) If there is a project/program
manager(s) on staff, he/she can work with the Tribal Administrator to develop the
budgets for their grant applications, usually for continuing projects.
The Tribal Council is presented the draft budget BEFORE the start of the fiscal
year….at least two months ahead….so that approval can be given and
bookkeeping set up for the new fiscal year. The Tribal Council reviews and
approves the budget.
Each program/project manager is responsible for monitoring his/her program
budget. The program budget is part of the overall Council budget. The program
manager should obtain regular (monthly) updates from the bookkeeper regarding
his/her program expenditures and income. In addition, it is highly recommended
that the program manager maintain his/her own revenue and expense report
spreadsheet that shows the revenue and expenses throughout the life of the
program in relation to the approved budget.
It is the responsibility of the program manager to communicate with the
bookkeeper and Tribal Administrator about his/her budget and the corresponding
revenue and expenses. The program manager should also be sure to have a
tracking system for drawdowns of grant funds to the program.

CYA ASSIST: A sample budget is located in the Appendix at Tab N.

CYA ASSIST: REMEMBER- the Tribal Council is ultimately responsible for
ensuring that the Tribal Council budget is followed. That means constant
monitoring of expenses and income. The Tribal Council is responsible for how
ALL Tribal Council funds and ALL grant funds are spent. When the Tribal Council
President signs the grant agreement, the Tribal Council is agreeing to follow the
rules. The grant money must be spent as presented in the grant application
unless prior approval is received to do differently. There can be a major negative
impact to the Tribal Council’s money, assets, and credibility if the Tribal Council
does not do this job.
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How do you prepare a budget?
There are all kinds of ways to present a budget. As defined on Page 20,
budgets may be presented using one or all of these methods. Remember, the
more detail the better. Samples of budget formats are readily available. Contact
your regional non-profit for sample forms. Your bookkeeping software should
have samples.
Most important, as mentioned earlier, is to prepare the budget BEFORE the fiscal
year starts. Make sure the bookkeeping software is set up with budget
information. Have someone assigned to enter the data to the appropriate
accounts and generate the reports on a regular basis. Monthly is preferred.
The Tribal Council and Tribal Administrator should work in partnership to make
sure that budget information is provided regularly. This will help you avoid
potential cost overruns or under spending…. both no-nos.

CYA ASSIST: Remember, a budget is an estimate or projection of the money
available before you start spending.
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: BUDGETS FOR GRANT
APPLICATIONS

A grant application will likely require specific information with regards to the
proposed project’s cost. The grant agency will usually request the applicant
provide both a detailed budget and a budget narrative or justification.
When preparing your grant project budget (or any budget, for that matter), be
sure to include all costs necessary to effectively and efficiently operate that
project. For example, the Council is paying for the IGAP utility costs, such as
electricity, phone, insurance, sewer, water, and/or internet. The Council must
determine what portion of the overall costs of these items is the appropriate cost
share for the IGAP. You will need to know what the total costs are for these
items for a given month, time period or year. Then, determine how much space
the IGAP office is occupying out of the total building space. Let’s say IGAP
occupies 25% of the building. Therefore, 25% of the utility costs are the cost
share of the IGAP. When completing the budget narrative, provide the specific
information that illustrates how the budget detail amount was determined.
NOTE: The Council cannot just list ‘office rent’ for the IGAP as a budget detail.
This is not an allowable expense.
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: COST SAVING TIPS

$ SHOP for a bank. There are many different financial institutions out there
providing services. Do some research and find the bank that offers you the best
deal for the services you need. For example, some banks charge a fee for each
check you write, each deposit you make and each overdraft you have.
Sometimes you have to maintain a minimum balance to avoid charges. Some
Councils maintain multiple checking accounts. Sometimes this is required of a
grant project or is advisable in the case of a capital project. However, if the
Council can streamline its accounts into one, this is highly advisable and will
result in considerable cost savings.
$ CENTRALIZE purchases of office supplies and equipment. Often, Council
programs or projects make their own purchases. If the Council puts all of these
purchases together into one order, a cost savings can usually be realized.
Make sure you standardize all the office equipment, such as computers and
printers. In this way, you can order the same types of ink cartridges and realize a
cost savings by making quantity orders.
$ ANALYZE your Worker’s Compensation classifications. Alaska law requires
an employer of one or more employees obtain workers’ compensation insurance.
Insurance coverage is obtained from commercial insurance carriers. The cost of
a workers’ compensation policy is based upon the employer’s payroll, type of
business risk (the classification assignment) and the employer’s loss history. Be
sure the tribal council is correctly classified and that standard exemptions
(clerical office employees) are taken. If the Council thinks their premium is too
high or that the tribal council is improperly classified, it can request a review.
Check the State of Alaska website for information to help you.
http://labor.state.ak.us/wc/er-profit.html
$ PAY off of statements, not invoices when appropriate. Sometimes, a company
where you do repeat or frequent business will send an invoice with an order. The
bookkeeper should monitor the invoices to be sure that a Statement is not issued
at the end of the month that covers a particular invoice or multiple invoices.
When multiple invoices are expected or received from the same company, keep
them on file until the statement is received, attach the invoices included with that
statement, and pay the statement amount.
$ PREPARE a timeline for issuing checks. It costs you money to start up your
bookkeeping system to pay a check here or there. Establish a regular schedule
for paying Accounts Payable, such as weekly or bi-weekly. Let all staff know
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what the schedule is and that they are responsible for turning in an invoice or
statement for payment WITH THE SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION, i.e.,
check request, etc.
Please refer to the sample Finance Policies and
Procedures, Section 4.1 Accounts Payable for a suggested process.
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: COST EFFECTIVE DRAW DOWNS
The Tribal Council obtains the federal grant funds it is eligible for through a
process called ‘draw down’. Each federal agency that is providing grant funds
will provide the specific process by which the Council can complete a draw down
of funds.
Draw downs are a part of the Council’s cash management for grant programs.
The Council should adopt a draw down process in its finance policies and
procedures to properly conduct the accessing of funds and to create a paper trail.
For example, the process should identify who is responsible for signing draw
down requests. This is often the President or Tribal Administrator. The
project/program manager (i.e., the IGAP Coordinator) is responsible for preparing
and submitting the draw down request. For EPA, the request is made on the
EPA Payment Request Form.
The project manager should closely monitor the bills that are payable and the
payroll due, in other words, any expenses that may be payable within a given
time period, usually two weeks. These expenses represent ‘obligated’ funds.
At the end of the given time period (two weeks, a month), the project manager
gathers up the paper trail that shows the obligated funds and makes a request for
payment (a draw down) to the tribal administrator. The tribal administrator or
president approves and the funds are drawn from the appropriate grant account
by the appropriate person, usually the bookkeeper and the money is transferred
to the Council’s appropriate bank account.
Some Councils are currently conducting draw downs on a ‘cost reimbursable’
basis. This is NOT recommended, and Councils using this process for payment
are strongly urged to change to a process that draws the funds down in advance.
For example, the IGAP Coordinator has documented expenses for purchase of a
computer, two weeks of payroll and office supplies. The Coordinator knows
these expenses total $5,000. He/she prepares a Payment Request Form
requesting a drawdown to cover these expenses IN ADVANCE of the payment
coming due. EPA IGAP will usually process draw down request within 3-5 days,
so the request should be submitted with this in mind. Tribes in Alaska have up
to two weeks to disperse the funds.
IF you wait to submit the draw down request AFTER THE FACT, the Council is
using funds from other sources to pay for IGAP expenses. As discussed earlier,
this is a no-no, called churning or co-mingling funds, unless the Council has
funds available from non-government resources. THINK AHEAD!
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Reminder: You do not need to send any documentation with your
draw down request. BUT, the documentation must be kept in your files. Be sure
you have your paper trail filed for every draw down!
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Section 4. Financial Statements & Financial Reports

What are Financial Statements and Financial Reports?
Financial Statements are a record or a ‘report card’ of a Tribal Council’s financial
resources and liability levels. Financial Statements define the health of the Tribal
Council. The primary objective of Financial Statements are to provide accurate
financial information that outside agencies/people can depend upon to make
decisions about the Tribe.
There are several types of financial statements that a Tribe may need to prepare
under GASB 34, Governmental Financial Reporting Requirements. The basic
Financial Statements are:
•Government-wide Financial Statements which include:
1. Balance Sheet or Statement of Net Assets- this shows the Tribal
Council’s net assets, liabilities and fund balances.
2. Statement of Activities- this is a summary of revenues and expenses
for a given period of time (monthly, quarterly, annually, term of the grant,
etc.).
•Fund Financial Statements, which include:
1. Governmental Funds
a. Balance Sheet
b. Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balances
2. Fiduciary or Trust Funds
a. Balance Sheet
b. Income Statement
c. Statement of Cash Flows (not required)
•Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), which is a narrative that
explains the analysis of the Tribe’s financial activities.
Many Tribal Councils will use a financial report called a “Budget to Actual Profit
and Loss”. This financial report allows for a comparison of the budget estimates
to what has been actually spent for a period of time (monthly, quarterly, yearly).
The financial report will show if line items are over spent or what is remaining to
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be spent. In some instances, there will be specific financial reports for specific
projects, such as a capital project.
Why do you need Financial Statements and Financial Reports?
Financial Statements and Financial Reports are a way for the Tribal Council to
monitor the finances of the organization.
Producing monthly, quarterly and
annual Financial Statements and Financial Reports will help with your meeting
grant and contract reporting requirements. The annual Trial Balance Report will
provide the necessary information to conduct the annual audit and produce the
Financial Statements. The Financial Report helps with on going monitoring of
funds to ensure monies are being spent as budgeted and to identify any
difficulties with over spending.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, 8/25/94
Paradigm: an example; a pattern or model.

Who is responsible for the Financial Statements and Financial Reports?
The Tribal Administrator is responsible for ensuring that the appropriate Financial
Statements & Financial Reports are generated during the determined time
period. Usually, the Tribal Administrator will inform the Bookkeeper as to when
he/she wants the Financial Statements & Financial Reports ready to present at
the Tribal Council meeting. The Tribal Council then reviews the Financial
Statements & Financial Reports, bringing to the attention of the Tribal
Administrator any concerns they may have.
Program/Project Managers should be provided with copies of the financial
reports for their programs/projects BEFORE they go to the Council for review.
The manager(s) have an opportunity to check to make sure spending is within
established grant guidelines and bring any concerns to the Tribal Administrator.
They should make sure that expenses are being charged against their projects
correctly. The Tribal Administrator is responsible for seeing that any identified
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problems are addressed and corrected before the next review of the Financial
Statements and Reports are produced.
How do you prepare and use Financial Statements and Financial Reports?
Today’s financial software is designed to generate all the Financial Statements
and Financial Reports you will need. The key is entering the data correctly in
order to ensure accurate financial information is generated.
If you have
problems, seek help and seek help fast. The sooner you catch any bookkeeping
glitches in your report-generating, the better off you will be.
When you receive your Financial Statements and Financial Reports for review,
check to the see the time period that the reports are covering. The Balance
Sheet is as of a certain date, such as the end of the quarter- June 30, 20XX. The
Financial Report/Statements of Revenue and Expense usually covers the period
from the beginning of the fiscal year to the date the report is run, usually the end
of the month.

CYA ASSIST: Use the financial information as a way to tell you how far along
each project is and if there are problems brewing. For example, the line item for
wages for the year to date under your EPA IGAP grant shows only 20% of the
budget amount remaining- AND it is only the third month of the project!
Something doesn’t seem right with that! Or, the long distance bill for the month
of April is twice as much as last month! Did the bookkeeper check the long
distance bill for any out of the ordinary calls- like to Antarctica? Or, maybe there
is a simple explanation, such as increased internet use for grant research. It’s
important to review the Statements and Reports.

CYA ASSIST: The financial data found on the Financial Statements relate to the
financial data found on the Balance Sheet and the Profit and Loss Statements.
Seek out assistance if you need help in this area. The accounts of the balance
sheet need to be reconciled at fiscal-year end. This will make audit preparation
easier.
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CYA ASSIST: Some Councils have generated income as part of its activities
completing its EPA IGAP projects. In such instances, the Council must follow
EPA regulations at 40 CFR.31.25. Per this regulation, “program income shall be
deducted from outlays which may be both federal and non-federal, unless the
EPA regulations or grant agreement specify another alternative.
These
alternatives are: “when authorized, program income may be added to the funds
committed to the grant agreement by the EPA and the Council” as long as the
program income is used for the purposes of the grant project; and “when
authorized, program income may be used to meet cost sharing or matching
requirements of the grant”. This regulation applies as long as the grant is active.
Any income after the grant is closed out has no federal requirements.
Note: The cost of generating the program income may be deducted from the
gross income to determine the net program income. Only the net program
income falls under the EPA requirements.
You don’t need to report if the
amount is under $100.
In such cases, “program income is used for current costs unless EPA authorizes
otherwise.” “If the Council did not anticipate program income at the time of grant
award, the incomes shall be used to reduce the EPA’s and Council’s
contributions rather than increase the funds committed to the project.”
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Section 5. Audits

What are audits?
Audits can usually be divided into two categories: Internal and External.
Internal AuditsEPA defines internal audits as those “that examine the programs or operations of
Federal agencies”. In order to accomplish this internal audit, the recipients of
EPA funds, including Tribes, may be examined in order to ensure agency
compliance.
EPA has a process for conducting an internal audit with a Tribe. This is called an
OIG (Office of Inspector General) Audit. There are specific steps involved,
including notifying the Tribe, reviewing information, discussing any findings with
the Tribe and allowing the Tribe to resolve the audit findings. These steps may
be found in the “EPA Tribal Administrative and Financial Guidance Manual for
Assistance Agreements”.
The important thing for a Tribe to keep in mind is the need to maintain a good
paper trail when accountable for federal funds. With the paper trail in place, the
Tribe will successfully complete the external and internal audit process.

A word of caution: The Office of the Inspector General (OIG)
maintains a hotline (1-888-546-8740) to receive complaints of fraud, waste
and/or abuse in EPA programs and operations. Please ensure that your grant
projects are being run according to the funding agency’s requirements!

External AuditsThere are several types of external audits identified by EPA, including single
audits, preaward audits, interim and final cost audits and indirect costs audits.
Tribes will be most familiar with the single audit, which is usually the vehicle used
by Tribes to comply with OMB Circular A-133.
The discussion in this section will focus on single audits. Refer to the EPA
Guidance Manual for definitions of the other audits.
According to EPA, the single audit is a financial and compliance audit. It is used
to show that federal and other Tribal Council dollars are being used in
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compliance with the federal requirements found in OMB Circular A-133, “Audits
of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations”. A single audit
means the same thing as an ‘organization-wide’ audit. Otherwise the Tribal
Council might go through the unnecessary expense of auditing every individual
program.
The financial audit component of an external audit is a review and analysis by the
Auditor of the financial statements. The Auditor will perform a variety of tests to
obtain sufficient evidence that the financial statements materially reflect the
financial position of the Tribe. This provides a tool to assess the financial
condition of the Tribal Council.
An external audit is a checks and balances of the Tribal Council’s financial
position for a one year period. It is completed in the months following the end of
the Tribal Council’s fiscal year, usually within three months maximum. It is
important for the Tribal Council to be timely in its preparation for and completion
of the Tribal Council Audit. The federal government imposes time restrictions on
Tribal Councils within which to turn in their audits. Audits must be submitted to
the federal government within 9 months of the fiscal year end, which is usually
done by the Auditor, however the Tribal Council should check to make sure this
task is completed.
Every Tribal Council that spends $500,000. or more in Federal funds or
$300,000. in State funds in a fiscal year is required to have a single audit.
Using the requirements and procedures found in OMB A-133 and GAGAS
(Generally Accepted Governmental Auditing Standards), the State of Alaska
Single Audit Regulation and any other reports deemed necessary or required, the
auditing firm will conduct the annual audit.
CYA ASSIST: If the Tribal Council does not spend $500,000, the Tribal Council
should still conduct a Review or a Compilation of its financial records and
systems from a qualified independent Certified Public Accounting firm. A
Review is conducted when a lower degree of assurance than an audit is
acceptable, but the Council wants to know that a professional has performed
some analysis of the financial statements. During a Review, the CPA will ask
about accounting policies and procedures, A Review can include tests of the
controls of the Tribe. A Compilation (the lowest level of review) involves gaining
a general understanding of the Council and its bookkeeping system, then
presenting your financial information in the accepted format of proper financial
statements. The CPA will present financial data that is mathematically accurate,
but without his/her assurance as to its verifiability or conformity with the GAAP.
A Review is highly advised as a way to safeguard Tribal Council assets!
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The Auditor’s Report should include:
For the Single Audit Portion (If the Tribe has received State funds, there will be a
Single Audit section for Federal and a Single Audit section for State grants)•Auditor’s opinions on the fair presentation of the financial statements and
schedule of expenditures of Federal awards.
•Auditor’s report on the internal control and opinion on compliance pertaining to
major programs.
•Auditor’s schedule of findings and questioned costs.
•The Tribal Council’s Corrective Action Plans to address the findings, if any.
•A summary schedule of prior audit findings that shows the planned or completed
corrective actions.
•A Schedule of State Awards and Expenses with mini-statements of revenue and
expenses for major programs, findings, and corrective action plans and prior
findings is completed for a State Single Audit if necessary.

For the Financial Audit Portion•Financial statements and notes to the Financial Statements, including a
Combined Balance Sheet and Statements of Revenue and Expense- one
showing the combined program and administration and one showing all
programs and administration.
A Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) as required under GASB 34. Your Auditor can help you prepare this
document.
•Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and a Schedule of Expenditures of
State Awards, if necessary.

CYA ASSIST: An audit may include questioned costs. Do your best to avoid
these by Covering Your Assets with the tools in this Manual! WARNING: IF you
have questioned costs, you may have to refund the amount of the questioned
costs that are not allowed by a management decision back to the granting
agency.
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CYA ASSIST: Here are some common audit issues: Not having an adequate
paper trail that supports the costs; not having back up for personnel costs (time
cards); not having an approved indirect cost rate (if the Council has one); not
having control over Tribal Council property (Inventory); not providing quarterly
reports, financial reports or grant close out completed in a timely manner;
spending money outside of the approved grant budget and grant period; making
excessive cash draw downs; not putting three price quotes on equipment over
$5,000; not putting major purchases out to bid; not spending the grant funds on
allowable costs.

CYA ASSIST: Having written policies and procedures on file regarding time
sheets/cards, personnel, travel, procurement, property, finance, and codes of
conduct and DBE information, to name a few, will help the Tribal Council in its
audit process.
We will now look at the Why, Who and How questions based on the Tribe
completing an external single and financial audit.

Why does the Tribal Council have a Financial and Single Audit?
A Tribal Council must conduct these kinds of audits in order to obtain funding IF
the Tribal Council meets funding limits. An audit is required per the Federal
Single Audit Act of 1984, amended 1996. Every grant funding agency (federal,
state and private) requires Tribal Councils to show proof of prior audits in the
grant application process, if they expend greater than $500,000 in Federal funds
or greater than $300,000 in State funds. Even if the Tribal Council does not meet
funding limits, it is highly recommended that an Attestation Review be conducted.
The Annual Audit is part of the checks and balances of Covering Your Assets.
The audit provides an end of the fiscal year report of the Tribal Council’s
finances. The audit verifies that the Financial Statements are materially stated
and that grant funds were materially spent correctly.

CYA ASSIST: Materially stated is an accounting term that addresses accounting
information and how it is documented. An auditor will test for the materiality,
meaning “the magnitude of an omission or misstatement of accounting
information that makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person
relying on the information would change or be influenced”.
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Who is responsible for the Tribal Council Financial and Single Audit?

The Tribal Administrator is responsible for conducting the procurement process
for obtaining the qualified CPA firm to do the audit. He/she should prepare, with
the Council’s approval, the Request for Proposals and submit to potential audit
firms. The Tribal Council President and Tribal Administrator should review the
responses and make recommendations to the Tribal Council.
Factors to include in the RFP include: a statement of the general qualifications of
the auditing firm; a statement of experience in performing single audits, including
a list of single audit clients; statement regarding the quality review of the single
audits performed; a proposed price (based on the Council’s description of the
work); and a listing of the members of the proposed audit team and their
respective qualifications.

CYA ASSIST: The Auditor is employed by the Tribal Council, not the Tribal
Administrator. The Auditor works for the Tribal Council to assess the validity of
the financial statement as maintained by the Tribe’s management.

The Tribal Administrator should thoroughly review the audit draft before the
President approves the document. The Tribal Administrator is responsible, per
Tribal Council direction and approval, for preparing and implementing an Audit
Action Plan in response to any audit findings. The Tribal Administrator should
assure that copies of the audit are submitted to the Federal Clearinghouse.
Usually, the auditor will submit the copies on behalf of the Council.
The Tribal Council is ultimately responsible for the contents of the audit. They
will review and sign off on the audit as an accurate reflection of the Tribal
Council’s financial picture for the audited fiscal year. The Tribal Council should
report the audit results to the tribal membership at the annual meeting.

How does the Tribal Council complete the Tribal Council Financial and Single
Audit?
The Tribal Administrator should start the process for getting the Audit completed.
He/she should follow the Tribal Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures,
probably using the Small Purchases process for a purchase between $2,500.01
and $25,000.00. The Tribal Administrator should prepare a Request for
Proposals and send to at least three auditing firms.
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The Tribal Council’s Audit Committee selects the auditing firm with the help of the
President and Tribal Administrator. The Tribal Administrator, working with the
Tribal Council Bookkeeper, provides the financial information to the auditors as
needed. Your auditor should provide you with a ‘checklist’ containing information
to have prepared in advance of his/her on-site visit. The checklist may include
copies of grant agreements, financial policies and procedures, financial reports,
list of current Council members, etc. The important thing is to assemble the
information in advance of the auditor’s arrival. The auditor will want to look at
vendor files, check requests, purchase orders and payroll for certain projects.
This is part of the testing and evaluating for internal controls.

CYA ASSIST: IF the Tribal Council bookkeeping system is set up as described
under the Financial Assets Chapter, you will not need to hire someone to come in
and create the bookwork necessary to complete the audit. All too often Tribal
Councils incur substantial additional expense because they don’t have the proper
bookkeeping completed before audit. Tribal Councils are strongly encouraged
to obtain technical assistance to establish a bookkeeping system instead of
waiting until the time of the audit. Have your technical assistance provide
training in the bookkeeping system, particularly for data entry.

CYA ASSIST: As of January 1, 2005, the Tribal Council may not hire the auditor
to create the bookwork necessary to complete the audit.

CYA ASSIST: The Tribal Council MUST submit copies (2) of its audit to the
Federal Audit Clearing house no later than 9 months after the end of the Tribal
Council’s fiscal year. Mark this on your calendar! Or check to make sure your
auditing firm will do this as part of its service. Better yet, make it a requirement of
your deliverables in your RFP for auditing services. The Council is ultimately
responsible for making sure this happens!
Other agencies may require copies of your audit, as well.

CYA ASSIST: Obtain a copy of the OMB Circular A-133, “Audits of States, Local
Governments and Non-Profit Organizations”.
You can go to the State and
Federal OMB website to get the single audit standards that auditors use to
perform the single audit of major programs.
Check the Appendix, Tab O, for information on audits and reviews from EPA.
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CYA ASSIST: Use grant program funds to pay for an audit or certification. The
Tribal Council can include this expense as a line item in its grant budget.
However, the audit amount charged to the grant program must be reasonable.
The grant cannot pay for the entire audit cost. Refer to the discussion on
procurement in the Manual located at Tab 3, Chapter 3, Section 2, and the
discussion on cost share at Page 16 in that same Chapter.
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MONEY PROTECTION BONUS: Employee Time Sheets/Cards

Time is Money! An employee time card provides a paper trail for the Tribal
Council. The time card documents an employee’s time spent at work and
provides the proof for the Tribal Council to expend funds to pay for the
employee’s time. Establishing a process as part of the Tribal Council’s Financial
Policies and Procedures for handling time cards is a MUST!
Here are some Dos and Don’ts for time cards:

•Tribal Councils- DO NOT issue payroll checks on the LAST day of the pay
period! Many Tribal Councils follow this mis-guided tradition of issuing payroll
checks on the last day of the pay period. THIS IS COSTING YOU MONEY!
Think about how this costs the Tribal Council, please.
Instead, DO establish a payroll calendar that clearly states the pay periods, the
dates for submitting completed time cards AND the date that paychecks will be
issued.
Do this, and your bookkeeper and auditor will thank you.
•Employees- DO turn in your SIGNED time card as directed, accurately showing
the hours worked. Time cards are usually due to the supervisor two or three
days after pay day, if you are doing things the right way.
•Employees- DO keep track of your time separately for each project or program
you are working under. For example, if you work part time for the EPA IGAP and
part time as Tribal Council Secretary, keep track of your time for EACH position!
Submit a time card for EACH job you have. This is a requirement under OMB A87.
•Supervisors- DO review the timecard, make sure that the information is
accurate, and SIGN it!
•Bookkeepers- DO NOT issue a check unless there is a properly executed time
card. Plain and simple- No completed time card, no check.
•Bookkeepers- DO make all the appropriate payroll deductions, court ordered
payments and reimbursement of pay advances from the payroll checks.
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CYA ASSIST: Be sure your bookkeeper is making payments on time to the IRS
for federal tax deposits and required withholdings, to Alaska SUI, and child
support withholdings.

CYA ASSIST: It is highly recommended to do payroll bi-weekly or weekly. Your
Bookkeeper will thank you. If the Tribal Council has a capital project, the Wage
and Labor Law requires you to pay construction workers weekly. Why not make
it easy on your Bookkeeper and have payroll the same for everyone. Costly
mistakes will be avoided.

CYA ASSIST: Tribal Councils are encouraged to make sure they are current
with payroll tax payments to the IRS and State of Alaska. Check the following
website for a copy of the most recent report showing local governments,
including tribes, who are in arrears.
http://www.dced.state.ak.us/dca/pub/Lien_Watch_Nov_Dec_2009_Final.pdf

CYA ASSIST: Develop a calendar to provide staff with the important dates
associated with payroll. For example, enter on the calendar the day that time
cards are due to the supervisor and the date when payroll will be issued.

CYA ASSIST: Helpful tips for your Bookkeeper are located at Tab P of the
Appendix. Tab P also has a copy of Form @-9

CYA ASSIST: Check the Appendix, Tab Q, for samples of employee forms.
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Section 6. Indirect Rate
What is an Indirect Rate?
First, we need to understand about indirect costs. The U.S. Department of
Education defines indirect costs as “the expenses of doing business that are not
readily identified with a particular grant, contract, project function or activity, but
are necessary for the general operation of the organization and the conduct of
the activities it performs”. These expenses cannot be identified with a specific
grant as a direct charge and are usually considered administrative or overhead
expenses.
These costs are combined into a ‘pool of costs’. The pool is then divided by the
allocation base the Tribal Council has chosen to determine its Indirect Rate.
Costs that could be in your ‘pool’ include the wages of the president, bookkeeper,
or tribal administrator that cannot be charged to a specific program; and
maintenance, heat, electricity costs or insurance directly related to Tribal Council
operations. A cost-benefit analysis may help determine which costs should be
included in the overhead pool.
The Indirect Cost Rate is a proportion of the indirect costs that each federal or
state-funded grant or program should bear. The Indirect Cost Rate is a ratio,
expressed as a percentage, of the indirect costs to the direct cost base. This
Rate is approved by the Federal Government.
There are several types of indirect rates. A Tribe may have only one indirect rate
or multiple rates. There are many things for the Tribe to consider when
determining what type and how many indirect rates for which to apply. Here are
several types of indirect cost rates:
•Provisional Rate with a Final Rate: This is a temporary rate that is established
prior to the beginning of the Tribe’s fiscal year. It is based on an estimate of
administrative operating costs that the Tribe determines. Within 6 months after
the end of the fiscal year, the Tribe would prepare a reconciliation to finalize the
rates.
•Predetermined Rate: is a rate that is established for 1-3 years and is not
adjusted at the end of the period.
•Fixed Rates with Carry-Forward: is a rate established for a short period of time
(1-3 years) and the rates stay the same. Any shortfall in collecting indirect cost
revenues is carried forward to the next period.
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•Multiple Indirect Cost Rates: can be negotiated by the Tribe if a single
organization rate is not useful. For example, multiple rates could include a NONOSG Direct Cost Rate, a Non-OSG Flow Through Rate, an OSG Rate, etc.
•Special Rates: are usually negotiated when the above rates do not fit the
organization’s costing method. These are unique rates negotiated between the
Tribe and its cognizant agency.

Why do you need an Indirect Rate?
Well, you need an indirect rate because the BIA and now other federal agencies
are saying you must have one!
An indirect rate is a way for the Tribal Council to receive funds to offset the daily
operating costs the Tribal Council must pay to keep running.

Who is responsible for the Tribal Council Indirect Rate?
The Tribal Administrator is responsible for ensuring that indirect rate proposal is
submitted on time. He/she must also see to it that the indirect cost rate is
charged to the Tribal Council’s programs as appropriate.
The Tribal Council
President is responsible for signing the appropriate paperwork when submitting
the proposal.
As part of the Indirect Rate process, the Tribal Administrator must complete a
final Indirect Cost Reconciliation after the audited Financial Statements are
published and within a few months of the expiration of the Indirect Cost
Agreement. The President is responsible for signing the Reconciliation.

How do you get and use an Indirect Rate?
Each year, the Tribal Council must apply for a calculated rate, preferably three to
six months before the start of a new fiscal year depending on the Council’s fiscal
year. Specifically, the Tribe must submit by June 30 for the next Federal fiscal
year, or March 31 for those on a state fiscal year or September 30 for those on a
calendar year. Also, instead of an annual rate, the Tribal Council may apply for
multi-year, fixed or provisional rates. Tribes are encouraged to obtain
professional help in order to decide which approach best suits the Council’s
needs as well as to obtain help with the submittal. The BIA is helping Tribal
Councils with their submittals for the Indirect Cost Rate.
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The Tribal Council will need to have certain things in place in order to apply
for an Indirect Cost Rate. The Tribe will need to create an Indirect Cost Policy
as part of the Tribe’s Financial Policies and Procedures. The Indirect Cost Policy
will help guide the Tribe when writing its Indirect Cost Rate Proposal. All
submittals are due to the Tribe’s cognizant agency several months prior to the
beginning of the fiscal year covered by the proposal.
Some of the other items required may be described in this Manual. These
include: Administrative and Finance Policies and Procedures that show a good
bookkeeping system; an annual budget; a clean audit, or, if you have Audit
Findings, you will need to show proof of a corrective action plan and an
organization chart.
There are some other things that are specific to the Indirect Cost Rate that
should be included in your proposal. These include a description of your
accounting system, an Accounting Certification, and a statement of direct versus
indirect costs.
The National Business Center (NBC) provides templates for developing your
Indirect Cost Rate proposal. This information will take you through the process.
The NBC will work with you and provide technical assistance in developing the
initial indirect rate. You can hire a qualified professional. However, as of
January 1, 2005, the Tribal Council may not use its auditor to prepare the
Proposal.

CYA ASSIST: Remember to CYA and be thrifty. The Indirect Cost proposal
process sounds more difficult than it really is. The key to obtaining this Rate is
having ALL your pieces of the puzzle together. If you CYA, you will have most of
those pieces already in place.

Once you have received your Indirect Cost Rate, the percentage should be
charged to the Tribal Council’s programs unless otherwise limited by the granting
agency and/or contractual agreement. NOTE: the Rate only applies to Federal
or State programs! But there are exceptions to this. When applying for grants,
read the small print to see if indirect costs are allowed, or if they are, up to what
percentage. Private funding agencies do not usually recognize indirect rates!
CYA ASSIST: Go to http://www/nbc.gov/icshome.html for more information on
indirect cost rates. Review OMB A-87, Section 15 on indirect cost rate
proposals.
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MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: No Indirect Rate?

What if the Tribe does not have an Indirect Cost Agreement and Rate?
If your Tribe does not have the resources to obtain an Indirect Cost Rate or if the
Tribe determines that the cost-benefit of obtaining one is not practical, there is an
alternative.
The Tribe can create an Administrative Cost Plan that direct charges out the
administrative costs to the grants. This could include a Space Allocation Plan
that would allocate a percentage of rent and utilities to each program within the
office. Also, administrative staff would keep time records that allocate their work
hours to the different programs that they support. See OMB A-87.

MONEY ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Council Member Stipends

It the Tribal Council provides stipends for its members, a paper trail is needed.
The Tribal Council should have a written policy about stipends. It is important
that the stipend policy is implemented equitably.
Current federal requirements view Council members as employees. Therefore,
each Council member should be issued a W-2 for their stipend or meeting fees.
Tax burden (social security, Medicare and unemployment) is not withheld from
their fees.
Be sure to have a paper trail for each Council member to show why he or she
was issued a check and a W-2. For example, a Council member can sign a form
that states the date, time, the event (meeting, workshop, etc.) and if applicable,
the grant fund paying the fee.
Each Council member should have an employee file.

CYA ASSIST: At Tab R of the Appendix, you will find further information on
Council Member stipends.
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Section 7. Village Prevailing Wage Rate

What is a village prevailing wage rate?
The Omnibus Indian Advancement Act (P.L. 106-568) allows for Indian tribes to
determine and apply their own prevailing wage rates in their contracts or
agreements. This means that the Tribal Council can establish its own wage rate
within the village instead of using Federally-determined prevailing wage rates.
The Department of Labor defines prevailing wage as “the wage paid to the
majority (more than 50%) of the laborers or mechanics in the classification on
similar projects in the area during the period in question. If the same wage is not
paid to a majority of those employed in the classification, the prevailing wage
shall be the average of the wages paid, weighted by the total employed in the
classification.”

Why do you need a village prevailing wage rate?
A prevailing wage rate enables the Tribal Council to set the wage rate for
laborers and mechanics in the village. This can ensure that the wages paid are
cost effective and are fair and equitable when compared to other wages being
paid in the community.
If a Tribal Council does not have its own prevailing wage rate, it will end up
paying Davis Bacon Wage Rates when required by certain government-funded
projects. Usually, the Davis Bacon Wage Rates are well above the prevailing
wage in the community. This can have several impacts: employees leave
positions to obtain the higher wage. This can leave gaps in the Tribal Council
office workforce. Projects can go bankrupt attempting to meet the Davis Bacon
wage requirements. Sometimes the Davis Bacon wage earners are underqualified and the higher wage is not justifiable.

CYA ASSIST: Davis Bacon is required under some federal construction projects.
In some instances, the village prevailing wage rate may need to be approved by
the federal funding entity before being implemented. The Tribal Council needs to
check the grant requirements for the specific program.
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Who is responsible for obtaining a village prevailing wage rate?
The Tribal Administrator should draft a village prevailing wage rate resolution
based on the Tribal Council’s direction. The Tribal Council then adopts the
resolution. The Tribal Administrator is responsible for ensuring the resolution is
publicized and implemented.

How do you obtain a village prevailing wage rate?
The Tribal Council should prepare a Resolution that defines its prevailing wage.
Once the prevailing wage is adopted, it should be filed with federal agencies as
appropriate. For example, if the Tribal Council operating its own housing
department, it should file its prevailing wage information with HUD. You can
submit the Resolution with your current year Indian Housing Plan.

CYA ASSIST: Samples of prevailing wage rates are available from other
Councils, particularly in the Lower 48. You can do an internet search for
samples. Also, a sample resolution is included in the Appendix at Tab S of the
CYA Manual.
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CHAPTER 4: BE SMART/WISE- Managing your People
Resources
Misunderstanding can result when people automatically assume that others think as they do.
-Robert Summer, The Mind’s Eye

Overview:
The unsung heroes and most valuable asset of any organization, Tribal Council
or business are----- the employees!
Who works extra hours to finish a grant
deadline? Who finds that long-sought piece of paper to make the IRS happy?
Who gets the bills paid on time?
Yes, money is important. But it’s your people who get you the money and then
make sure it is spent properly. They keep the office, its programs and services
running. However, employees are often the most overlooked and neglected part
of your Tribal Council. And, when they are overlooked and neglected, problems
can start brewing.
In your Tribal Council office, how many people show up for work on time? Did
someone forget to report an accident that resulted in the Tribal Council being
sued? How about an employee who falsifies her time card? Did the bookkeeper
‘forget’ to pay the federal withholding tax?
Any of these sound familiar? Unfortunately, good people can and often do bad
things that end up creating problems and, quite possibly, costing money for the
Tribal Council.
There are definite ways to prevent this kind of crisis
management from appearing and your human resource assets from running
amok.
Here are a few of the management tools to have in place that will be discussed in
this Part:
•Employee Policies and Procedures
•Hiring Practices
•Job Descriptions
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•Performance Evaluations
•Employee Personnel Files and Employee Payroll Files

Section 1. Employee Policies and Procedures
Do you notice a trend here? Every part of your Tribal Council assets require
some kind of rules and regulations to make sure that things run smoothly and
efficiently. Your employee resources are no different.

What are Employee Policies and Procedures?
Employee Policies and Procedures provide direction and guidance for your
employees. They define the benefits an employee receives from working at the
Tribal Council (paid holidays, annual leave, maternity leave) and the expectations
of an employee who works for the Tribal Council (show up on time, perform
duties as described).
The Tribal Council should encourage a pleasant AND PROFESSIONAL work
environment where employees are treated equally with dignity and courtesy. The
Employee Policies and Procedures are the means for the Tribal Council to give
reasonable and consistent treatment to ALL employees.
Examples of topics for Employee Policies and Procedures include the following:
•Specific policies for Equal Opportunity, Native Preference, harassment,
confidentiality, smoking, substance/alcohol abuse, political activity, health and
safety, and conflict of interest. You may want to include a policy regarding Tribal
Council Member employment. Some Tribal Councils allow this under certain
circumstances, others do not.
•The hiring process the Tribal Council uses, including how the Tribal Council
publicizes position availability, the selection process, interviewing, probation
period, employee classifications, orientation, hiring of relatives, and provision for
emergency hire.
•The compensation for employees, including work schedules, payday, wage
rates, time cards, and overtime. These are important because of the need to
comply with Alaska Labor Laws. The Tribal Council should also consider
whether it will offer the option of pay advances to employees and include this
information in this section.
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•The benefits the Tribal Council offers to employees, including paid time off
(leave), paid holidays, allowance for time off without pay and skills development
opportunities.
•Information on the performance evaluation process for employees, including
frequency of evaluations and who conducts them.

•Information on employee disciplinary action that provides a step-by-step process
to help the employee take corrective action. It also provides the Tribal Council
with a process for monitoring the employee and taking further action, such as
termination, if necessary.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 2/21/06

CYA ASSIST: Highly recommended is a section that provides the employees
with guidance about their conduct. This section can give specific information
about receiving or making personal phone calls (often a real problem in the
office!), having visitor (another problem area), and using the internet for personal
business or playing computer games (something not encouraged).

CYA ASSIST: Another recommendation is a section on Employee Orientation.
New hires are often shown the desk, a chair and the project Plan of Work and
expected to ‘go to work’. A more inviting approach is to provide an “Orientation”
for the new hire. The orientation can include meeting co-workers, showing where
to find office supplies and equipment, and explaining work conditions such as
timecards, hours of work, supervisor, pay rate, etc. Most importantly, the new
hire should be introduced to his/her work responsibilities.
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Why do you need Employee Policies and Procedures?
Tribal Councils need Employee Policies and Procedures to meet the
requirements of grant funding agencies (federal, state, private) and of the Tribe.
These agencies want assurance that the Tribal Council has the tools in place for
managing people. They often have very specific requirements for grant funds
that the Tribal Council must follow. For example, the EPA IGAP wants proof that
the Tribal Councils have Employee Policies and Procedures that cover wage
rates, equal employment, performance appraisals, and employee benefits. The
granting agencies want assurances that employees (current and those hired
under the grant program) are treated fairly and in accordance with federal
regulations.
Another reason for Employee Policies and Procedures is to ensure that
employees perform their duties. Tribal Councils spend their assets, in time and
money, to hire and train people for work. Also, employees want some guarantee
of what ‘perks’ they will receive while on the job. The Employee Policies and
Procedures help provide the guidance to meet the needs of both the Tribal
Council and employee.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 10/12/05

Who is responsible for developing and implementing Employee Policies and
Procedures?
The Tribal Council is responsible for assuring that adequate and appropriate
Tribal Council Personnel Policies and Procedures are adopted and implemented.
The Tribal Council President can direct the Tribal Administrator to develop a draft
document for the Tribal Council to review and adopt. The Tribal Administrator
may seek professional assistance with this process. Or, the Tribal Administrator
may be able to use documents from other sources to help develop the policies
and procedures the Council needs.
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Once the Tribal Council has approved the Policies and Procedures, the Tribal
Administrator is responsible for implementing them. He/she should make sure
that all staff receives training in the processes. Each employee should receive a
copy of the Employee Policies and Procedures when he/she is hired. The
employee should be encouraged to read the information. Each employee should
be required to sign proof of receipt of the Employee Policies and Procedures and
that proof filed in his/her Personnel File.

How do you develop and implement Employee Policies and Procedures?
Employee or Personnel Policies and Procedures are probably the most prolific
policies and procedures available from other sources. Many samples of this type
of document may be found from other Tribal Councils or from regional not-forprofits. Funding agencies can give you ideas about what they want included in
Employee Policies and Procedures. Just review their monitoring or evaluation
tools for suggestions. This includes the EPA IGAP On Site Protocol Instrument.
Please modify the samples you review to meet your needs. It is recommended
to not copy these samples, but carefully review them and adapt them for your
Tribal Council. You can contract with a professional who develops policies and
procedures and have a document drafted that is specific for your Tribal Council’s
situation and needs. An added benefit of having a contractor is to include in the
Scope of Work an activity to provide a training for staff and Council Members by
the contractor.
You may have some Employee Policies and Procedures you are using now.
Make sure they meet federal and state requirements. You can use the
suggestions listed above to make sure you have some of the necessary the
topics you need for your Employee Policies and Procedures.
There is grant funding available to develop Tribal Council Personnel Policies and
Procedures. ANA and EPA IGAP are both good sources.

CYA ASSIST: The Personnel Policies and Procedures must be implemented
consistently and applied equally to all employees.

CYA ASSIST: If the Tribal Council is an ‘at will’ employee, be sure to state this in
the Council’s Personnel Policies and Procedures.
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CYA ASSIST: The Alaska Department of Labor provides “Investigators of the
Day” who can be called with questions. They can help employers understand
labor law requirements. Obtain a copy of the Alaska Department of Labor,
Wage and Hour Administration Pamphlet #100. This pamphlet, called
“Employment Practices and Working Conditions”, contains valuable information
on compensation requirements for employees.
Please refer to the Alaska
Department of Labor for specific information on such issues as exempt and nonexempt employees, minimum wage, required deductions (payroll taxes) and
court-ordered deductions.
www.labor.state.ak.us. or call 907-269-4900 in Anchorage
Tab T in the Appendix provides information about exempt and non-exempt
employees.
Tab U in the Appendix provides information from the Department of Labor
showing frequently asked labor questions.

CYA ASSIST: A sample format for personnel policies and procedures is located
on the BBNA website.

The Council must be consistent in its employment practices. For
example, if leave benefits (i.e., personal, annual and/or sick leave) or holidays
are offered to REGULAR Council employees, then all regular employees should
receive these benefits. The Council may define ‘regular’ employees, often as
those working fulltime, part time and/or grant program specific, however they
wish. The important thing is to have this definition in your personnel policies and
procedures.
You will note that seasonal and/or temporary employees are not being called
‘regular’.
Please see 2 CFR, Part 225, Appendix B, 8.d. (1) and (2).
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PEOPLE ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Hiring Practices
The Employee Policies and Procedures of the Tribal Council should have a very
thorough description of how people are hired for positions. This is so important,
here is some further information for you.

GOOD HIRING PRACTICES INCLUDE:
*Job order or planning
*Job description
*Interview guidelines
*Interview questions
*Orientation plan
Here are some good hiring practices steps to follow:
•Whatever hiring practices you define in your Employee Policies and Procedures,
be sure you implement them CONSISTENTLY! The hiring practices must be
followed ‘to the letter’. Anything less will get you into trouble. You must base
your hiring decision on the person’s demonstrated ability, experience education
and/or training background….. NOT that he or she is the relative of the Tribal
Council President! The person must be well-suited to do the job at hand. Use
the Job Description to help you match the person with the job.
• Describe the job, breaking it down into its components. What will the person be
doing or what are his/her responsibilities? Don’t forget the last responsibility
“other duties as assigned”. How much are they paid? Where do they work?
Who will supervise? What are the qualifications of the person to be hired?
How will the job be advertised?
•Post the job opening! Make sure you post it at public facilities- Tribal Council
office, post office, health clinic. The posting is usually for 2 weeks.
•Have people complete a Tribal Council Employment Application. They can give
you a resume if available, but the Application makes sure that you have
consistency among the information provided by the applicants.
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Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 7/7/06

•Make sure applicants are told to COMPLETE the Application! If they don’t give
you a complete Application, you really can’t consider them for the job. Tab V in

the Appendix shows sample employment application forms and hiring
process tips.
•Compare the information found in the completed employment applications to
the Job Description. You want to select only those candidates to interview who
meet the requirements and qualifications of your job description.
•Decide who is going to do the interviewing. This could be the Tribal
Administrator, President or the future employee’s direct supervisor. Or, it could
be a team of people (three or four are recommended). Have prepared questions
so you can ask the same thing to each candidate.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 9/28/05

Again, be CONSISTENT! Know what questions are not legal to ask. And, don’t
waste your time asset. Only interview QUALIFIED candidates!
•Make sure you follow federal government regulations by completing I-9 and W-2
forms for everyone. Do this within three days of hire.
•Inform the successful candidate in writing, giving him/her the date of hire,
supervisor’s name and wage rate.
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•Be polite and send the unsuccessful candidates a letter or make a phone call.
Just say simply that ‘The Tribal Council has hired the best suited person for the
job. Thank you for your interest.’
•Once the employee is hired, don’t just show him or her to a desk and say ‘Go to
work’. Be sure to give an orientation. Orientation should include information
from the Employee Policies and Procedures, such as annual leave, holidays,
hours of work, etc. Give the new employee copies of Tribal Council information,
such as organization chart and forms regularly used (time cards, leave requests,
check requests) and explain them. Go over the Job Description with the
employee. Provide information related to the job, such as Work Plan from a
grant program. Let the person know the supervisor is available to help!
•Send the new employee a Letter of Hire. This letter is mandatory! The letter
includes the wage rate, date of hire, job title, work hours, the name of the
supervisor of the position and the probationary period. A copy of this letter goes
in the employee’s personnel file.

CYA ASSIST: IF the Tribal Council allows for relatives of employees to be
employed, you must define your hiring practice about relative hire. If the Tribal
Council is OK with relative hire, you must be sure of several things. First, make
sure the relative applicant is QUALIFIED. Second, it is highly recommended that
the currently employed relative not be part of the selection process. Be sure to
define ‘relative’ in your Employee Policies and Procedures. For example, a
“relative is defined as any person related to the employee by blood, marriage or
adoption in the following degrees: parent, child, spouse…..etc.

CYA ASSIST: Don’t forget your Equal Opportunity Policy and Native Preference
Policy!

CYA ASSIST: Remember…..You don’t have to be nice. You need to be fair!

CYA ASSIST: Check Tab V for sample employment applications and
background information check forms.
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CYA ASSIST: The State of Alaska requires employers to submit a form showing
hire of any new employee. It is called the “Alaska New Hire Reporting Form” and
is available at http:http//www.childsupport.Alaska.gov/forms/forms.asp. The form
is #04-1050. A copy is located in the Appendix at Tab Q.

The CYA Manual was developed by The Arcturus Group, llc for BBNA & its clients with funds from EPA, 2006 rev. 2012.
Page 124 of 143

PEOPLE ASSEST PROTECTION BONUS: Job Descriptions

A job description tells an employee what his or her responsibilities are and what
work he or she is expected to complete for the Tribal Council. The description
usually provides great detail of the tasks to be completed. Often, these tasks
will reflect work to be completed in a Plan or Scope of Work from a grant
application.
The job description tells the employee who she/he reports to, the wage rate or
range, and hours of work. It also lists the qualifications and responsibilities for
the job. Don’t forget such key phrases as, “Complete other duties as assigned”,
and “Willing to work flexible hours”.
The job description can assist in the employee evaluation process. The reviewer
can go through the ‘responsibilities’ section and see what progress or shortfalls
may have occurred during the review period.
If the employee is hired to
complete a grant project, the Work Plan may also be used in the review process
as a way to determine progress.
The Tribal Administrator should review ALL Tribal Council job descriptions on an
annual basis to make sure they are accurate and consistent.
CYA ASSIST: A job description usually consists of the following components:
-Title of Position
-The Supervising Position
-Wage Range
-Timeframe of Position (if applicable, such as a grant-funded position)
-Overview (a short sentence that describes the position, i.e., “This position is
responsible for implementing the work plan for the EPA IGAP grant for 2011”.
-Itemized List of Position Responsibilities
-Qualifications, including education and/or experience required, specific skills
needed to do the job (computers, drive, work at night, etc.).
Be sure to include in the job description any Council employment policy
information, such as “Equal Opportunity Employer”. This is often at the bottom of
the job description.
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Fail to honor people, they fail to honor you.
-Lao Tzu
Section 2. Performance Evaluations

What is a Performance Evaluation?
A Performance Evaluation is a way to provide feedback to employees about their
work. It provides an opportunity for a conversation between the employee and
supervisor to discuss whether or not goals are being met. It also offers a chance
to talk about what the Tribal Council might be able to do to assist the employee
with his/her professional growth and/or address any difficulties that may have
cropped up.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News, 11/14/05

•The evaluation process should be based on the employee’s Job Description and
Work Plan.
•Performance Evaluations should follow a standard format to ensure equitable
treatment of employees.
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Why do you need to do Performance Evaluation?
We all like to know when we are doing a good job. Performance Evaluation
offers an opportunity to hear words acknowledging a good performance. It is
also a chance for the Tribal Council to point out problem areas for correction and
inform the employee of the potential consequences, i.e., termination.
Performance Evaluations help supervisors determine who should be promoted or
given a pay increase.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Anchorage Daily News, 6/29/06

Who is responsible for developing and conducting Performance Evaluations?
The Tribal Council with the assistance of the Tribal Administrator is responsible
for developing the Performance Evaluation system for the Tribal Council. The
system should be presented to the Tribal Council for approval.
Once the Performance Evaluation system is in place, each supervisor should
conduct performance evaluations for his/her employees. The evaluations should
follow the supervisory chain of command established by the Council. For
example, the President is responsible for completing the Performance Evaluation
for the Tribal Administrator.

CYA ASSIST: Evaluation by committee (ie. the Tribal Council) usually doesn’t
work. The evaluator(s) need to have first-hand familiarity with the person’s work
accomplishments and work ethic.

How do you develop and conduct Performance Evaluations?
While samples of Employee Policies and Procedures in some form or other are
easy to find, Performance Evaluation samples are usually a ‘long lost treasure’.
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Why? Most likely, none of us like to sit down and talk to another person where
we might have to discuss a problem. And, because we are often busy doing the
daily office routine to keep things running, we forget how important it is to
recognize one another for something good…. to give a ‘pat on the back’ for a job
well done.

CYA ASSIST: So, where are we going to find examples of this elusive
Performance Evaluation? Check the Appendix at Tab W for some samples.

A performance evaluation should be done after the employee’s 90-day
probationary period, if you have one. This is an opportune time to release an
employee should his/her performance not be satisfactory. NOTE: If the Tribal
Council is an “at will’ employer, a performance evaluation at the end of the
probationary period is not needed for termination.
Each employee should receive an annual evaluation. The evaluations should
be signed by the employee, supervisor, and Tribal Administrator and are placed
in the employee’s confidential personnel file.

“My performance at work has really improved over the years. Now I can

nail a co-workers with a paper clip shot from a rubber band at 20 yards.”

from a Maxine cartoon
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PEOPLE ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Filing Employee Personnel and Payroll
Information
In the Administration Policies and Procedures, it is recommended to provide
specific information about employee files. Each employee should have a
separate personnel file and a separate payroll file. The personnel files are kept
in a locked file cabinet with limited access, usually the Tribal Administrator. The
employee payroll files should be maintained and kept by the Bookkeeper or
Tribal Administrator, depending on how the Council is staffed.

The following are the contents for each file:
Employee File Contents, when applicable
Employment Application
Resume
Letter of hire that states wage rate, date of hire, work hours, supervisor,
probationary period
Copy of W-4 Form
I-9 Form
Change of Status Forms
Performance Reviews
Disciplinary Actions
Leave Requests
Record of Trainings
Letter of Termination
Resignation Letter
Proof of Mandatory Deductions

Employee Payroll File Contents (redone annually)
Original W-4
Time card with pay check copy/stub attached
W-2 (annually while employed)
Notice of any changes in hourly wage
Pay advances or loan requests
Mandatory deductions information, but not the confidential record
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PEOPLE ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Disciplinary Action/Termination of
Employees

Unfortunately, it may be necessary to take disciplinary action if employees are
not performing up to Council standards. The Council should establish a plan of
action to use in such circumstances.
This plan is often part of a Council’s
Personnel Policies and Procedures. Without a plan, the Council really has no
leg to stand on when attempting to address inappropriate behavior, particularly if
termination of employment is warranted.
Such a plan should include:
√ A detailed list of reasons for possible disciplinary action and/or dismissal.
√ A description of steps to be taken for discipline, i.e., verbal warning, written
warning, suspension.
√ A process for termination.
Key to any disciplinary or termination action is having a paper trail. All
information regarding disciplinary action and/or termination should be in writing,
be kept confidential and in the employee’s personnel. file.
Please refer to the sample Personnel Policies and Procedures located at the
BBNA website for specific information on disciplinary action, termination and
grievance procedures.

Dilbert Cartoon by Scott Adams, Ketchikan Daily News 7/31/09
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PEOPLE ASSET PROTECTION BONUS: Staffing Considerations and Variations
A Council may have various ways of staffing positions to complete Council work.
For example, you may choose to hire an employee or complete the work under
contract. For employees, there are other options to consider: exempt or nonexempt, salary or hourly wage, seasonal or flat fee contract labor and flexible
workweek.
Whatever the choice of the Council for staffing, there should be written processes
that justify or explain the decided-upon approach.
The following information
provides basic information some of the choices available.

Hourly Wage Employee: is paid a rate per hour for work and is eligible for
overtime for work performed over 40 hours per work week or 8 hours per work
day. An hourly employee must obtain approval from his/her supervisor before
working over a regular workweek. An hourly wage employee is usually a nonexempt employee.

Salaried Employee: is paid a specific amount for a specific time period, usually
monthly. A salaried employee may be an exempt employee.

Exempt Employee: is paid a set salary for any week in which work is performed,
regardless of the quality of quantity of the work. This means that if the employee
works 10 hours of work a week or 60 hours of work a week, he/she is paid the
same amount. There are particular requirements used to determine whether a
position is exempt. The basic requirements are:
•The employee earns at least $455. per week and performs job duties that fall
under certain exemption criteria that include:
- The Executive Exemption where the employee manages the operation of
a business, department or subdivision within a company AND supervises two
employees, AND have the authority to hire, fire and promote.
- The Administrative Exemption where the employee exercises
independent judgment and discretion while performing non-manual work directly
related to business operations.
-The Learned Exemption where the employee has advanced knowledge in
a field through prolonged study, including doctors, lawyers, dentists, etc.
- The Creative Professional Exemption that includes actors, musicians,
writers, and painters.
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-The Computer Exemption that includes computer programmers, systems
analysts and others working in the computer and technology fields.
-The Outside Sales Exemption that includes those working on a
commission basis.

Nonexempt Employee: is performing routine work, following set standards,
procedures, or rules. A nonexempt employee is not required to use his/her
discretion and independent judgment. He/she is entitled to overtime for all hours
worked over 40 hours in a given work week or 8 hours in a given work day.
Source for information about exempt and nonexempt employees: the American
Association of Managing General Agents Organization (www.aamga.org/files/hr)

Seasonal/Temporary Employee: is someone hired to fill a regular or part time
position for a limited period of time or for a particular short-term project. The
employee is paid an hourly wage and is eligible for overtime, if applicable.
Usually, the seasonal/temporary employee is not eligible for holiday pay or for
accumulating leave time. A seasonal employee may be someone hired to
monitor a stream, run a trash pick up program during the summer, etc.

Flat Fee Contract Labor: is someone hired for a specific project, usually for a
short-term period. A contract between the Council and laborer specifically
defines the work to be accomplished and the time frame for work to be
completed. The Council and laborer agree to a set fee for services. A flat fee
contract laborer is not eligible for overtime, holiday or leave pay.

Flexible Work Week: is a workweek agreed to by the employer and
employee whereby the employee may work hours different from those of other
employees. If the Council wishes to have a flexible workweek, it must submit a
Flexible Work Week Plan to the Alaska Department of Labor for approval.
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Specific information must be submitted for this Plan, which may be found on the
Alaska Department of Labor’s website.
Councils may run into situations where it wants some flexibility in an employee’s
work schedule. This often happens when an employee needs to attend a training
or workshop. Since compensatory (comp) time is illegal in Alaska and a flexible
work week requires extensive effort in developing and adopting a plan, the
Council may wish to consider offering employees a ‘work schedule adjustment’.
The Council may accomplish this by having the supervisor meeting with the
employee before the meeting or workshop is attended. The supervisor and
employee can agree to vary the work hours for a particular time period in such
instances. For example, the employee is attending the EPA IGAP training that
runs from Monday through Friday, eight hours each day. However, the
employee’s work schedule is for six hours, Monday through Friday. The
supervisor and employee may adjust the work week accordingly so that the
following week, the employee only works four hours Monday through Friday.
The Council should have its Personnel Policies and Procedures reflect this
flexibility. Under Work Schedules, include “The Council may change an
employee’s work hour schedule ahead of time at its discretion”. Be sure you
document the change and put in the employee’s personnel file. Remember, you
cannot tweak the work schedules after the fact. You cannot avoid paying
overtime.
Call the Department of Labor at 907-269-4900 with any questions.
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CHAPTER 5: BE ON TIME and DOCUMENT- Managing Your
Grant
Overview:
One of the most challenging assets for a Tribal Council is Time Management.
Along with money assets, time assets are the most difficult to keep on track.
There are several time assets that the Tribal Council should give close attention.
They are:
•Ensuring that ALL reports for grant funds are prepared and submitted to the
granting agencies in a timely manner.
•Ensuring that the Tribal Council meets deadlines for filing required financial
data, including the Tribal Council Annual Audit, federal withholding deposits,
indirect rate proposals and money transfers.
•Ensuring that the Tribal Council’s Policies and Procedures are followed per their
stated time requirements. This includes such things as turning in time cards
when required, filing travel reports within the required time frame, conducting
performance evaluations as scheduled, completing the Tribal Council inventory
as required, completing bank reconciliations and following Tribal Council records
retention requirements

CYA ASSIST: Develop and maintain a CALENDAR that
shows all the deadlines for the Tribal Council.
A wall calendar is great for
tracking important dates for the Tribal Council. You can show grant reporting
deadlines, payroll, holidays, meetings- the possibilities are endless! Be sure to
have someone responsible for monitoring and up dates. Provide a copy to all
employees, especially the new hires.
The following timely issues are discussed in this Chapter:
•Grant Management
•Grant Reporting
•Grant Close-out
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Section 1: Managing Your Grant
Getting the money is easy; spending it (right) is the hard part.
-Michele Zerbetz Scott, Grant Writer

Congratulations! You have received notice that the Tribal Council has been
awarded a grant. This grant is now a Tribal Council Asset.
The granting agency will provide its specific requirements for grant administration
or management. Fortunately, most of these requirements have already been
covered in the CYA Manual.
If you faithfully follow the CYA Manual and
implement its suggestions, you will have all the grant administration tools in
place.
Here is a recap of some things you should have in place to help
administer your grants.
•Administrative Policies and Procedures
•Financial Policies and Procedures
•Property Policies and Procedures
•Procurement Policies and Procedures
•Personnel Policies and Procedures
•A Filing System
•A System for Records Retention
•Forms to assist in providing a paper trail for all transactions
*Calendar marked with important dates (deadlines)
*People assigned to do the administration of the grants.
Let’s take a look at some “Dos and Don’ts” that are specific to Grants
Administration. These include:

1. DO review, sign and return the Grant Award Agreement within the required
time frame. For EPA IGAP, the Tribal Council must return the Grant Agreement
within three weeks.
A review by more than one person is strongly
recommended.
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Sometimes, the granting agency will place Special Conditions that must be
completed before funds may be received or drawn down.

2. DO complete the Special Conditions and reply to the granting agency within
the required time frame. Examples of Special Conditions might be to show proof
of obtaining site control for property before the project can begin; or showing
proof of an environmental assessment. For EPA IGAP, Special Conditions may
include agreeing not to spend funds on lobbying activities, to submit quarterly
progress reports, and to involve the EPA Project Officer in planning.

3. D O assign responsibility within the Tribal Council for BOTH Grant
Administration and Grant Implementation. Often, the grant has funds to hire the
personnel to implement the grant. It should be the responsibility of the Tribal
Administrator to carry out the hiring process for this position. He/she should use
the hiring process described in the Tribal Council’s Employee Policies and
Procedures.
The Tribal Administrator should also assign responsibility for the Grant
Administration.
This could be the grant-hired employee or the Tribal
Administrator.

4. DO immediately establish the process for receiving payments from the
granting agency. The process of receiving the grant money is usually referred
to as making a ‘drawdown’. Each granting agency has various systems it uses.
EPA IGAP uses ASAP; ANA uses PMS; and HUD uses LOCCS. No matter the
name, the systems are basically the same. The designated person at the Tribal
Council makes the request for funds via internet, fax or phone. The money is
transferred by the granting agency to the Tribal Council’s designated bank
account.

CYA ASSIST: Be sure to follow the drawdown requirements of the granting
agency. Often, the Tribal Council will be required to submit certain forms that
have banking information and signatures of the designated Tribal Council person
authorized to make draw downs.
Be on the look out for a requirement to
regularly access your draw down account with the federal agency. If you don’t
follow this requirement, the Tribal Council can be locked out of their draw down
account!
Check Chapter 3 of the CYA Manual for additional information.
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CYA ASSIST: Develop a Project Calendar for your grant project. A Project
Calendar can help you track your progress and manage your time spent on the
project. Include major dates and deadlines. Indicate on the Calendar who is
responsible for meeting a particular deadline and what needs to happen by that
date.

5. DO notify your granting agency if you want to make changes in the grant
award. If you wish to make changes in your grant award, you must notify the
agency BEFORE doing so. Sometimes you will not be able to made changes.
Sometimes you can make small adjustments to the budget within the approved
budget, such as moving from one line item to the other. For example, ANA
allows you to move 10% of the total funds between line items. EPA says you
can move less than 10% of the total EPA budget over the life of the grant.
If you find you are running out of time to complete the work of the grant project,
you may contact the granting agency to request an extension. Again, you must
do this BEFORE the grant expiration date.
The granting agency will have specific information about making changes that
must be followed.
6. DO follow the granting agency’s requirements for reporting on grant progress,
both financial and program. EPA and other grant agencies, have recently
changed the reporting requirements. Financial reports 269 and 272 are now
obsolete and should not be used. Instead, use Form 425 (sample in the
Appendix) for financial reporting, due 90 days after the end of the grant
agreement, unless otherwise specified.
Quarterly reports are due within 30 days of the end of the quarter.
7. DO reference the appropriate OMB Circulars and CFRs that are appropriate
for the grant program. The granting agency will explain which ones are to be
used in grant implementation. Consult the granting agency grant implementation
manual or similar materials.

8. DO NOT churn Tribal Council grant funds. Some Tribal Councils are guilty of
borrowing grant funds from one grant to pay the expenses of another. This is
called churning and is strictly forbidden by the federal government.
Churning/co-mingling usually shows up during the Tribal Council audit process.

9. DO NOT overspend grant funds. Only spend what you get. And, only spend
it right.
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CYA ASSIST: EPA has several staff members who are responsible for working
with a Council on its IGAP project. These include:
Grants Management Official (GMO)- is responsible for administering the grant
process, including monitoring and closeout. Some GMO duties may be
delegated to the Grants Specialist.
Grants Specialist- is responsible for the administrative and financial components
of your IGAP project.
The Specialist is available to work with the Council to
provide administrative guidance, review and approve the administrative portion of
your grant, and evaluates compliance with administrative conditions, and close
out of the grant.
Project Officer- is responsible for monitoring work-plan accomplishments and
budget. You negotiate with the Project Officer for any significant changes in the
project.
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Section 2. Grant Reporting

What is Grant Reporting?
Every grant the Tribal Council receives, no matter the source, requires certain
reports be sent to the granting agency. Grant reports usually include:

•Program Reports give a narrative explanation of what progress has been made
on the grant program for a certain time period. This time period is usually
quarterly. The Program Reports should follow the Work Plan that is in the
original grant application. Program Reports may be called Technical Reports,
Performance Reports or Progress Reports. The bottom line is to describe
measurable program results to-date. These reports are due per the award terms
and conditions.
•MBE/WBE (Disadvantaged Business Opportunity) Utilization Reports provide an
accounting for the minority or women- owned businesses contracted with to
complete work on a grant project. These are to be submitted as stated in the
award terms and conditions. This report is submitted annually.
•The Final Financial Status Report (269) for IGAP is due within 90 days after the
end of the budget period.

•Other reporting forms may be required by the granting agency. Please consult
carefully with the grant award agreement information. For example, EPA IGAP
requires a Lobbying and Litigation Certification at Close-out. But, ANA includes
this form as part of its original grant package.
In the Appendix at Tab Y, you will find the current Tips for EPA IGAP grantees
and the required IGAP reports.

Why is there Grant Reporting?
Every grantor wants a way to find out if it is getting what it paid for.
The reports you send in to the funding agency are used to show the cost/benefit
of the grant program. In the case of federal programs, the reports are shared
with the U.S. Congress, since Congress approves the money to the federal
agencies in the first place. The Congressional members want to know that the
money is being spent as they directed by law.
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The same is true for state grant funds. The State Legislature approves the
money that goes to the state agencies for grants. The reports are a way for the
State to show how the money was spent.
For private foundations, the reports are shared with the foundation’s board of
directors. They, too, have established their expectations as to how they believe
the funds are spent. The reports are one way to ensure that their wishes are
met.

Who is responsible for Grant Reporting?
Everyone in the Tribal Council organization has some level of responsibility when
it comes to Grant Reporting.
Obviously, the person is hired to manage or
coordinate the grant project is responsible for preparing the grant reports.
He/she fills out the required grants reports per the granting agency specifications.
Often, there are required forms that must be used. The Grant Administrator,
Project Coordinator, Project Manager, Program Manager….whatever the
title…..is responsible for being sure these reports are filed on time.
The Tribal Administrator is responsible to make sure that the Program Manager
turns in the reports on time. In fact, the Tribal Administrator should review and
sign each report. The Grants Administrator needs to prepare and turn in the
reports to the Tribal Administrator in plenty of time for the review to take place
before the reports are sent to the grant agency. A Tribal Council may decide to
have the Tribal Administrator assume responsibility for submitting financial
reports and processing draw downs. The Program Manager is responsible for
the narrative or program progress report.
Refer to the grant agency requirements to ensure compliance with the grant
reporting.

How do you do Grant Reporting?
The best way to do grant reporting is to follow what the granting agency requires
to the letter. Often, the granting agency will provide the forms it wants you to use
with examples. FOLLOW THEM! This is the easiest way to keep yourself out of
trouble. If you aren’t sure about filling out the forms, ASK! Check with your
regional coordinator or grant management specialist. Their job is to help you
with the paperwork.
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It is highly recommended to prepare monthly progress reports for your grant
project. These reports should provide an update about what the project staff is
doing, including what it has accomplished, what is left to complete and any
slippages, problems encountered and recommended corrective action.
A
sample progress report form is located in the Appendix. This report should be
presented to the Tribal Administrator, who should provide a copy to the Council
at its regular meeting.
This serves two purposes: it keeps the Tribal Administrator and Council informed
as to progress on the grant project--- very important since they are ultimately
responsible for grant success; and it provides an easy way for the project
coordinator to prepare the required quarterly reports.

Be sure your grant reports are ON TIME! Even if you are
unsure of the accuracy or completeness of your reports, get something turned in
by the required deadline. Or, better yet, call your grant management specialist
and explain the situation to him/her. Request an extension. Be sure you get
approval IN WRITING! You need to do this BEFORE the report is due.

CYA ASSIST:
NEW- All grantees must now use GAP Online to file reports. This is mandatory.
The website for GAP Online is: https://iaspub.epa.gov/GAPOnline.
The GAP Online manual can be accessed at:
http://www.epa.gov/aieo/pdfs/gap-online-regional-user-manual.pdf
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CYA ASSIST: Always remember- It is in the best interest of the grant
management specialist for you to successfully implement and complete your
grant program. If you show that your grant is being properly handled, they look
good and the Congress, Legislature or Board of Directors is happy.

CYA ASSIST: The MBE/DBE has been changed to the Disadvantaged Business
Enterprise (DBE) program. New rules for the DBE program went into effect in
2008 and will be fully implemented by 2011. The intent of the DBE program is to
ensure that disadvantaged businesses are given the opportunity to participate in
procurement opportunities. Information for Councils to ensure compliance with
DBE requirements can be found at 40 CFR Part 33, Subpart C. This Subpart
describes six “Good Faith Efforts” a Council must make in its procurement
process to encourage DBE participation in that process. Note, that this says
“take part in the process” not must be selected.
The Council should cover these requirements in its Procurement Policies and
Procedures. The Council must complete Form 5700-52A for all DBE activity as
required by EPA.
More information on DBE and procurement may be found in Chapter 3 of the
CYA Manual.
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Section 3. Grant Close-Out

The tasks of the grant work plan are done. All the money is spent. Is it time to
close the file drawer on this project? Not quite yet.
The Tribal Council must
inform the granting agency that all work is complete and all funds are spent.
The process for notifying the granting agency is called Grant Close-out. The
Grant Close-out process ensures a final accounting of funds and an evaluation
that all work has been completed satisfactorily. Each funding agency will have its
specific requirements to follow for completing the grant close-out. You will find
this information in your Grant Award information. Here are some important
points to remember in the Grant Close-out process:
•The grant close-out process will usually start once the grant project period has
expired.
•Certain forms and reports are to be completed and turned into the granting
agency within required timeframes.
For example, for EPA IGAP, Form 5700-53, Lobbying and Litigation Certificate, a
Final Performance Report, the final Financial Status Report (FSR) and the status
of any federally-owned property and its disposition MUST BE COMPLETED BY
THE TRIBAL ADMINISTRATOR AND/OR PROGRAM MANAGER FOR TRIBAL
COUNCIL SIGNATURE.
•Records for the grant project must be retained for a certain period of time
following grant end. For EPA IGAP, grant records must be retained for three
years after the final FSR is submitted. Your Records Retention for legal and
accounting purposes is seven years.

CYA ASSIST: The funding agency may conduct its own audit of the grant project
once grant close-out is completed. This may be an on-site visit to complete a
project evaluation. Keep your records!

CYA ASSIST: Be sure to follow the grant close-out requirements of the funding
agency. If you do not complete the close-out process, you run the risk of
jeopardizing future funding!
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